Illinois State University

ISU ReD: Research and eData

Theses and Dissertations

2-18-2019

Impact Of A Single Injury Prevention Instructional Session On The Incidence Of Injury Among U.s. Army Rotc Cadets

Joshua Wooldridge Illinois State University, joshua.wooldridge1@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd

Part of the Kinesiology Commons, and the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Wooldridge, Joshua, "Impact Of A Single Injury Prevention Instructional Session On The Incidence Of Injury Among U.s. Army Rotc Cadets" (2019). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1049. https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd/1049

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ISU ReD: Research and eData. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ISU ReD: Research and eData. For more information, please contact ISUReD@ilstu.edu.



IMPACT OF A SINGLE INJURY PREVENTION INSTRUCTIONAL SESSION ON THE INCIDENCE OF INJURY AMONG U.S. ARMY ROTC CADETS

JOSHUA WOOLDRIDGE

92 Pages

Background: Musculoskeletal injuries are the leading health concern for the United States Army. These injuries are the third leading cause of hospitalizations for Army service members and the primary cause for the majority of service-connect disability discharges. Over 80% of musculoskeletal injuries are overuse injuries caused by physical training. The Joint Services Physical Training Injury Prevention Work Group considers education to be a mandatory component of all injury prevention efforts; however, little military research has investigated the impact of education as a primary intervention.

Objective: To examine the impact of an injury prevention education class on the incidence of injuries in Reserve Officers' Training Corps (ROTC) cadets at a Midwestern university.

Study Design: Quasi-experimental, time-series study using a historic control group.

Methods: Seventy-nine ROTC cadets (age: 20±2 years, body mass: 73.57±12.60 kg, height: 172.88±9.50 cm, 26 females, 53 males) during the fall 2018 academic semester provided informed consent to participate in the study. Cadets within the same program from the previous fall semester served as the historic control group. A one hour and 15-minute long injury prevention class covering physiology of overuse injuries, common risk factors, and recommended interventions was taught to the cadets at the start of the semester. A second, 45-



minute class covering modifications to physical training programming was taught to those cadets in leadership roles. Injury data on any cadets that suffered an injury during both semesters were collected from athletic trainers working with the ROTC program.

Results: No change in the number of injuries existed between the control (n = 16) and intervention (n = 15) groups. Chi square tests of independence were performed between the two groups based on the nominal categories of body region injured, sex of the injured cadet, and whether the injury was caused by acute or cumulative trauma. No statistical significance between the groups was found based on body region injured (χ^2 (9) = 9.38, *p* = 0.403) or sex (χ^2 (1) = 2.78, *p* = 0.095). A statistically significant difference existed between the two groups based on the type of injury (χ^2 (1) = 3.89, *p* = 0.049).

Conclusion: The results of this study demonstrated no impact of injury prevention education as the sole intervention on the incidence of injuries in ROTC cadets. However, a shift in primarily overuse injuries to primarily acute injuries did occur, warranting further research on this topic.

KEYWORDS: Musculoskeletal injury, Injury prevention, Prevention education, Military injuries



IMPACT OF A SINGLE INJURY PREVENTION INSTRUCTIONAL SESSION ON THE INCIDENCE OF INJURY AMONG U.S. ARMY ROTC CADETS

JOSHUA WOOLDRIDGE

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

School of Kinesiology and Recreation

ILLINOIS STATE UNIVERSITY



© 2019 Joshua Wooldridge



IMPACT OF A SINGLE INJURY PREVENTION INSTRUCTIONAL SESSION ON THE INCIDENCE OF INJURY AMONG U.S. ARMY ROTC CADETS

JOSHUA WOOLDRIDGE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

Noelle Selkow, Chair

Todd McLoda



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to express my profound gratitude to Jessie Barry, William Rish, and Jeremy Morgan for having more belief and confidence in me than I have ever found in myself. I would not be where I am today without the foundation they provide for me. Jessie is one of the most thoughtful, caring people I've ever met and the best partner anyone could wish for. Will has spent hours serving as a sounding board for topics well above his current understanding, helping work through problems, and being a cheerleader at a moment's notice. Jeremy is the embodiment of optimism to the point of arrogance, only for my successes instead of himself. Any feeling of doubt or discouragement I expressed, Jeremy met with outlandish positivity and praise. I will be forever grateful for their unwavering support and endless encouragement.

I would like to thank my thesis committee chair, Dr. Selkow of the Interim Director of Graduate Studies at Illinois State University. While she was still working in the School of Kinesiology and Recreation, the door to her office was always open to approach her with questions or advice. She consistently allowed this document to be my own work while providing guidance and insight to steer the finished product in an appropriate direction.

I would also like to thank Dr. Todd McLoda, Dean of the College of Applied Science and Technology at Illinois State University for serving as a member of my thesis committee. His judgment and acumen shored up weaknesses in several areas of this paper.

I would like to recognize LTC John Cross and the Illinois State University Redbird Battalion ROTC cadets as without their participation, this would not have been possible.

Finally, I must acknowledge my gratefulness to those who have conducted research in this subject matter before me; Bruce Jones, Joseph Knapik, Steven Bullock, and many others for laying the groundwork through decades of extensive public health research within the military. I



i

would especially like to thank Veronique Hauschild for giving me permission to use her survey in this body of work.



CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	i
TABLES	vi
FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	3
Identifying the Problem	3
Incidence	4
Risk Factors	5
Intrinsic Factors	5
Extrinsic Factors	8
Prevention	9
Current Army Recommendations	10
Leadership Support	10
Education	10
Surveillance and Evaluation	12
Prevent Overtraining	12
Neuromuscular Training	13
Nutrition	14
Mouth Guards	14
Rigid Ankle Braces	15
Synthetic Socks	15



Interventions Not Recommended	15
Stretching	16
Back Braces	16
Anti-inflammatory Medications	17
Knowledge of the Problem	17
Barriers to Prevention	17
Education as Prevention	18
Conclusion	20
CHAPTER III: METHODS	21
Study Design	21
Participants	21
Injury Prevention Course	22
Injury Data Collection	23
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	25
Results	25
Course Content Quiz	25
Survey Responses	25
Injury Data	26
Discussion	27
Limitations	31
CHAPTER V: CONCLUSION	33
REFERENCES	34
TABLES	71



FIGURES	77
APPENDIX A: INJURY PREVENTION SURVEY	82
APPENDIX B: COURSE CONTENT QUIZ	91



TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Cadet Demographic Information	71
2.	Distribution by Percentage of Cadets' Beliefs on Musculoskeletal Injury Risks and	
	Interventions Prior to Injury Prevention Course	72
3.	Distribution by Percentage of Cadets' Beliefs on Musculoskeletal Injury Risks and	
	Interventions After Injury Prevention Course	74
4.	Breakdown of Cadet Injuries by Semester, Body Region, Sex, and Mechanism	76



FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.	Percentage of Correct Responses on Pre- and Post-Course Quizzes	77
2.	Cadet Self-rated Aerobic Endurance	77
3.	Cadet Self-rated Muscular Strength	78
4.	Injury Mechanisms Reported on Pre-class Survey	78
5.	Cadet Beliefs on Major Injury Mechanisms in the U.S. Army	79
6.	Cadet Responses to the Statement: "Injuries represent the biggest threat to the	
	Army's readiness to fight."	79
7.	Cadet Responses to the Statement: "Muscle/joint/tendon/ligament/bone injuries	
	resulting from overuse are a bigger problem to the Army than those Injuries from	
	single incidents/accidents."	80
8.	Cadet Perceptions of Leadership Opinions	80
9.	Areas of Cadet Interest for Further Injury Prevention Information	81
10.	Injuries for which Cadets Desired to Learn More	81



CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

The United States Army requires soldiers to be at their physical best for duty and combat. However, musculoskeletal injuries may be considered the most significant health threat to mission readiness,^{1,2} leading to substantial manpower losses and healthcare costs for the Army.^{3–} ⁵ On average, soldiers suffer 600,000 musculoskeletal injuries annually, predominantly to the lower extremity.^{3,6,7} Repetitive overuse movements – linked directly to physical training – produce the majority of these injuries.^{6,8} Physical training improves physical fitness and combat performance; however, mission readiness also requires healthy, injury-free soldiers.

The Defense Safety Oversight Council's (DSOC) Joint Services Physical Training Injury Prevention Work Group serves to improve the U.S. military's ability to prevent and treat musculoskeletal injuries.⁶ The Work Group employed a public health-based approach to identify key risk factors, effective prevention strategies, and future research directions.⁶ In a systematic review by Bullock et al,⁹ the Work Group identified four critical components of an effective injury prevention program: research and program evaluation, surveillance, leadership support, and education. In 2015, soldiers and Army civilian employees responded to a U.S. Army Public Health Center (APHC) survey with requests for professional guidance and educational materials on injury prevention strategies.¹⁰ "Educational materials" may include brochures, posters, fact sheets, technical reports, or journal articles delivered through electronic or printed media. Respondents to the APHC survey preferred fact sheets and brochures accessed by computer or as pre-printed materials¹⁰ while the research referenced by the Work Group^{9,11} primarily used classroom instruction for successful injury prevention.

Many responses to the survey also cited a lack of leader knowledge on injuries as an addressable barrier to injury prevention and rehabilitation.¹⁰ Despite the Work Group's



www.manaraa.com

classification of education as an integral component to injury prevention, little Army research has been conducted on the influence of education on injury rates.^{9,11–14}

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate the impact of injury prevention education on the incidence of injuries in U.S. Army Reserve Officers' Training Corps (ROTC) cadets. The authors hypothesized that an education course based on the working group's prevention recommendations⁹ would lead to a decrease in the rate of injuries experienced by ROTC cadets.



CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

Identifying the Problem

The men and women that serve within the United States Army are the organization's greatest asset. The Army – like all branches of the U.S. military – requires service members to be regularly tested on a variety of physical fitness components to assess an individual's capability to perform duty and combat-related tasks.^{15,16} Physical fitness is considered essential for combat readiness; therefore, the Army places great importance on physical training and expends considerable resources to ensure all personnel attain, and then maintain, high levels of physical fitness.^{15,17} As with highly active populations, training-related injuries result from increased activity.¹⁸ Over the last two decades, it has been scientifically recognized that musculoskeletal injuries are not only common in the Army (and the U.S. military as a whole), but may pose the greatest threat to service members, eroding combat readiness more than any other health condition.^{3,8,19,20} While human performance optimization is integral to the Army, it is critical to not only enhance fitness, but to prevent training-related injuries to improve combat readiness.^{15,21,22}

The goal of this review is to expand on the need for injury prevention measures in the United States Army. The Army Public Health Center relies on a five-step approach to interventions: (1) determine the magnitude of the problem; (2) identify causes; (3) determine prevention measures; (4) implement prevention programs; and (5) monitor and evaluate effectiveness of prevention efforts.^{3,23–25} This review will highlight existing literature on injuries in the Army and prevention recommendations. In addition, this review will illustrate the impact of education as a form of injury prevention as well as expand on perceived barriers to injury prevention.



www.manaraa.com

Incidence

Musculoskeletal and orthopedic injuries are the most significant detriment to medical and combat readiness of service members and have been for decades.^{1,3,18,26,27} Military injury rates are 2.5 – 21 times higher than the general population depending on the specific injury.^{28–35} For example, knee injuries are 10 times more likely to occur in members of the Army than the general population of the United States.³⁶ Comparing military injury rates^{37–41} to the injury rates of civilian athletes^{42–50} provides insight into the magnitude of the problem in the military. Military injuries occur at a higher rate than injuries to athletes competing in endurance sports, but are typically lower than the injury rate for contact sports.²⁴ Those serving in the U.S. Army, especially enlisted members, are at significantly higher risk compared to the other branches of service, accounting for over 40% of all Department of Defense injuries.^{5,27,51}

Nearly 50% of service members experience one or more injuries each year, and more than half of the injures are physical training-related.^{4,19,37} Most training injuries are not catastrophic, though they can be very debilitating.⁵ Overuse injuries (predominantly of the lumbar spine, knees, and lower leg) account for more than 80% of all injuries.^{7,8,27,51} Unintentional injuries account for more Army hospitalizations than any other category of diagnoses.³ Training-related musculoskeletal injuries are the third-leading cause of hospitalization after falls and motor vehicle accidents.³ Musculoskeletal injuries result in over a million outpatient medical encounters annually.^{1,3,52} Training injuries cost over \$100 million each year in medical care.^{36,51} Athletic injuries also cause over 50% of disability discharges among U.S. Army service members.^{24,53,54} Training-related injuries, and motor vehicle accidents, illnesses, and motor vehicle accidents).^{55,56}



www.manaraa.com

Risk Factors

Injury occurrence is a multifactorial event. Injuries are the traumatic result of acute or chronic transfer of energy to bodily tissue leading to physiological damage and loss of functional capacity.^{51,57,58} A critical step in the prevention process is to identify the underlying causes of injury in order to develop effective prevention measures.^{23,59–61} Injuries result from a complex interaction between internal and external risk factors and mechanisms of injury. Risk factors describe situations in which individuals may be more likely to suffer an injury.⁵⁷ Risk factors alone may leave an individual more susceptible to injury, but the presence of risk factors will not cause injury to occur without a further mechanism. Injury mechanisms are the physical processes that provoke tissue damage, comparable to the failure of a machine.^{58,62} Successful prevention efforts depend upon identification of risk factors that may be modified in hopes of decreasing susceptibility to injury. This effort is made more difficult for the U.S. Army as overuse injuries are the result of the cumulative impact of several micro traumatic events or may be chronologically distant from the injury mechanism.

Intrinsic Factors

Intrinsic risk factors are internal characteristics of an individual that increase their risk of injury.⁵⁷ A wide variety of intrinsic risk factors have been identified in Army service members. Caucasian soldiers experience more injuries than any other ethnic origin.^{24,63} Past injuries significantly increase the risk of subsequent injury.^{18,37,61} Research has commonly found low frequency of physical activity prior to entering the military to increase the risk of training injuries,^{37,38,55,64–69} most likely caused by a sudden increase in activity during entry-level training. Several anthropometric factors have been linked to injury risk including a larger Q-angle,⁷⁰ genu valgum,⁷¹ pes cavus,^{24,72} rearfoot inversion,⁷³ shorter than average tibial length,⁷³ restricted ankle



www.manaraa.com

dorsiflexion,⁷⁴ and excessive external rotation of the hip.^{5,75–77} Leg length differences and genu recurvatum have not been associated with increased risk of injury in military populations, and those soldiers with flat feet have been identified to be at the lowest risk of lower extremity injury.^{5,37} Certain anatomical variations may contribute to injury risk by altering how the body absorbs forces during high-impact activities such as running. Lower levels of muscular endurance as measured by push-up performance is the second most commonly identified risk factor for military training-related injuries.^{65,78,79} Those soldiers who perform fewer push-ups on the Army Physical Fitness Test (APFT) are at greater risk of injury. Despite the common belief that stretching and increased flexibility provide injury protection,¹⁰ flexibility constitutes a bimodal risk factor.^{37,80} Individuals at both low and high extremes of flexibility show more than twice the risk of injury compared to those of average flexibility.^{65,66,68,70}

Sex has been consistently shown to correlate with injury rates. Female Army trainees experience almost twice as many injuries as men in the same training program.^{63,64,75,81–83} However, women in operational units have not been shown to be at higher risk.^{5,41} This discrepancy between injury rates of females trainees versus female service members may be explained by the fact that on average, women entering military service tend to be less physically fit than men at the start of initial entry training.⁵ Across both training and regular unit populations, when cardiorespiratory fitness is controlled for, women suffer injuries at similar rates to men in the Army.^{18,84,85}

Age has been investigated as a risk factor in a variety of settings and Army populations, but findings have been inconsistent. Multiple studies^{86–89} have found no association between age and injury. Research conducted in training environments, especially basic combat training and advanced individual training, shows older individuals are more likely to sustain



www.manaraa.com

injuries.^{18,27,37,63,68,70,90} In contrast, soldiers in operational environments show a decreasing trend for injuries with increasing age,^{41,55,91} which is consistent with data from civilian populations.^{24,92} Older individuals entering the Army may be less physically prepared for the demands of entrylevel training, leading to increased injury rates.^{24,66,75} However, in the Army as a whole, older soldiers tend to have been in the military longer. Consequently, they typically are of higher rank and may be in supervisory roles. Their positions may not expose older soldiers to the same occupational and physical training demands as younger service members.

Much like the previously discussed topics, research on the association between body mass index (BMI) and injury risk has been contradictory.^{5,79,93} Some research has indicated there is no association between BMI or body fat percentage and risk.^{65,75,94} Other studies have shown an increased risk with increased body mass.^{27,61,90} Most research suggests both high and low body weight extremes have an association with injury risk,^{64,66,95} with individuals of lower BMI being at the greatest risk.^{19,96} Individuals with low BMI may have less muscle mass or bone density, predisposing them to injury resulting from strenuous load bearing.^{93,97,98}

Tobacco use, especially cigarette smoking, significantly increases injury risk in Army populations, even when other factors are controlled.^{37,65,67,75,99–101} The amount of smoking appears to have a linear relationship with higher injury risk.^{84,86,102} Smoking negatively affects wound healing and increases susceptibility to injury even after smoking cessation.^{103–107}

Lower aerobic fitness has shown strong and consistent association with increased injury risk.^{80,86,97,101,108} Typically in research on Army populations, slower times on the APFT two-mile run are used to operationally quantify aerobic fitness;^{55,78,101,102} however, some research⁶⁵ has measured peak VO_{2max} directly. Soldiers with low aerobic fitness may perceive duty and training tasks as more difficult.¹⁰⁹ Those less fit will perform activities at a higher ratio of their maximal



aerobic capacity, fatigue more rapidly, recover slower, and have a lower threshold for prolonged activity.^{19,110} Fatigue may result in altered motor patterns,^{111,112} leading to uncustomary musculoskeletal loading and greater physiological stress during exercise.^{65,93,113,114}

Extrinsic Factors

The benefits of exercise are well established,³⁷ and physical training is unavoidable for individuals in the Army.^{15,16,27} Type and amount of exercise are the primary extrinsic risk factors for military injuries.^{18,68,115,116} A significant dose-response relationship exists between vigorous weight bearing activities and injury rates.^{44,68,94,117} Running remains the leading cause of injury in the Army followed by road marching and obstacle courses.^{5,19} Marching-related injuries pose five times the risk per unit of time compared to running, and the risk of injury from obstacle courses was seven times that of running per unit of time spent performing the activity.¹¹⁵

In the Army, cardiorespiratory fitness has been viewed as synonymous with overall military performance, leading to an overemphasis on running in physical training programs.^{2,22} A wide body of evidence demonstrates that high running volume drastically increases the risk of injury.^{37,42,44,68,94,118–128} Rapid increases in running volume increase injury risk.^{5,93,129} One study¹³⁰ found that runners who increased weekly distance more than 30% per two weeks were at increased risk of injury compared to those who progressed by less than 10% during the same time period. Running for a duration of 45 minutes versus 30 minutes per session increases injury risk disproportionately to fitness improvements.^{93,117} Soldiers that exercise 10 or more hours per week are also at increased injury risk.^{18,41} Running more frequently than three days per week results in significant increases in injury rates,^{93,117,131} with running five times per week inflating risk 225% with no significant change in aerobic fitness when compared to three times per week. Mileage shows the strongest association with injury risk.^{47,68,132} Those who run greater distances



www.manaraa.com

per week experience more injuries.^{24,44,101,117} One study¹³³ observed that those who ran more than 20.1 kilometers per week (km/wk) were at increased risk. Jones et al.⁶⁸ found that infantry trainees running 17.7 km/wk suffered 27% more injuries than those running less than 8.0 km/wk and performed worse on the APFT over the course of the study. Grier et al.¹³⁴ reported that soldiers running more than 25.7 km/wk experienced more than twice as many injuries as soldiers running eleven or fewer kilometers per week. Running is an effective means to improve cardiovascular fitness; however, physiological thresholds exist above which increased running results in more injuries.⁶⁸ As frequency, duration, or total amount of training increase, injuries also increase until a point is reached at which injury rates continue to escalate substantially while aerobic fitness no longer improves.^{18,117} Combining physical training with demanding military training and duty may cause soldiers to exceed these limits faster than traditional exercise alone.³⁷

Prevention

While some level of injury will always be a cost of physical training,⁵ prevention of training-related musculoskeletal injuries should be the Army's number one priority.⁸ Performance optimization must balance maximizing fitness outcomes with minimizing injury risk by implementing evidence-based prevention strategies.² Once risk factors have been identified, measures must be introduced to reduce future injury incidence and be evaluated for effectiveness.^{57,135} Altering intrinsic risk factors presents a challenge for the Army in that modifications must be implemented before beginning physical training; however, extrinsic factors are more easily amenable to intervention.¹⁸ Ultimately, prevention requires a combination of efforts as modification of any single factor will most likely have a minimal impact on its own.⁵



www.manaraa.com

Current Army Recommendations

In 2010, the Defense Oversight Council's Joint Services Prevention of Physical Training Injuries Work Group (hereafter referred to only as the "Work Group") identified four essential elements of any successful prevention program: education, leadership support, injury surveillance, and program research and evaluation.⁹ The Work Group also identified multiple intervention strategies with research strongly supporting the effectiveness of the interventions. Successful interventions included decreased running volume, incorporation of neuromuscularbased training, appropriate nutrition, the use of mouth guards and rigid ankle braces during highrisk activities, and wearing synthetic socks.

Leadership Support

Preventing injuries depends on the commitment of Army leaders to being familiar with risk factors and the intervention process.¹ Army commanders can impact unit injury rates by being aware of the current state of injuries, understanding risk factors, actively setting goals to improve, and monitoring unit success.⁹ Leaders must recognize signs of overtraining such as increased injury rates and decreased performance (decreased APFT pass rates or slower average run times)^{37,136} and respond appropriately to these signs by modifying training plans. The need for leadership responsibility and accountability cannot be overstated. When leaders are held accountable for the well-being of their subordinates, injury rates decrease and progress improves.⁹

Education

The fourth step of the injury control process is to share data gathered from research.²⁴ Information must be disseminated to those who may directly use that knowledge to prevent



www.manaraa.com

injuries. The Work Group considers injury prevention education an essential component of any successful program.⁹

Civilian research has shown limited success in injury education provided through informational materials such pamphlets, videos, and flyers;^{137–143} however, education in combination with neuromuscular interventions have shown positive influence on injury incidence.^{144–146} The Army recommends a "community-based approach" to injury prevention education.²⁶ This approach tailors information to the perceived needs of the specific community and combines educational efforts with community leadership participation to modify attitudes and behaviors.^{11,13,147–149} Knapik et al.¹¹ provided seven hours of classroom instruction on injury awareness and prevention to unit staff and to advanced individual training (AIT) student-soldiers prior to the start of training. The course detailed physiology, conditioning concepts, injury prevention techniques, and application of risk management. Alongside the prevention education, the soldiers transitioned to the newly developed Army physical readiness training (PRT). Beginning in 2008, during the official transition to PRT, Scott et al.¹⁴ provided recommendations on injury prevention to senior military leaders at Fort Jackson. Those recommendations led to formal injury prevention training being added to the curriculum of leaders at Fort Jackson's precommand training. Early implementation of Army PRT as a replacement for traditional physical training involved educating military commanders and unit-level leadership at BCT locations on injury prevention and training modifications as well as establishing connections with potential injury prevention partners across multiple disciplines (preventive medicine, physical therapy, occupational health, health promotion, safety).^{14,150}



Surveillance and Evaluation

Injury surveillance systems are critical for long term injury prevention for a variety of reasons.^{151,152} Surveillance provides data for the identification of injury priorities and allows for evaluation of intervention effectiveness.^{1,9} Without medical surveillance, prevention outcomes cannot be measured with any certainty.^{24,153} Program evaluation not only allows for reviewing implemented prevention measures but can guide future research and intervention protocols.

Prevent Overtraining

Sound programming of physical training should prevent overtraining to reduce the risk of musculoskeletal injuries. Safe and effective physical conditioning programs consider all physical stressors experienced by trainees including training and daily duty activities and are structured in such a way as to minimize negative impacts of strenuous exercise. The most obvious training intervention to mitigate injuries in the Army is to reduce the amount of running performed by service members.⁹ The amount of running may be dramatically decreased to prevent injuries without adverse impact on soldier cardiovascular fitness.^{154–157} In one Army study,²⁴ a 40% reduction in running mileage resulted in a 54% decrease in injury rates. Other studies^{68,158} have shown 25-30% reductions in injury incidence after reducing running mileage with minimal impact on APFT run times. Performance on fitness tests can be used to separate soldiers into ability-based training groups with physical conditioning tailored to an appropriate level based on current fitness.¹⁵⁸ Running should start with very low mileage and progressively increase distance and speed to allow the body to adapt to the increasing demands.^{11,158–165} Using time rather than distance to program running would allow less fit soldiers to run shorter distances than their faster, fitter comrades. Such a programming style accommodates low and high fitness individuals simultaneously under a single training protocol. Periodization of physical



www.manaraa.com

conditioning, characterized by alternating periods of high and low intensity training in a planned manner, may be used to optimize performance and minimize injury.^{166,167} Cardiorespiratory fitness may also be improved by many aerobic activities other than running such as walking, swimming, or the use of aerobic endurance machines when appropriate facilities and equipment are available. Interval training can be implemented to train the cardiovascular system while minimizing ground-contact stress on the lower extremity. Interval training combined with a reduction in total running mileage has shown aerobic fitness improvements greater than sustained running and reduced injury risk.^{11,15,158,168,169} Many of these changes are recommended by the Army's field manual for physical readiness training, *FM* 7-22;¹⁵ however, guidelines from the document may not be followed or enforced at the unit level.

Neuromuscular Training

Neuromuscular training utilizes exercises focused on core stabilization, proprioception, multi-axial movements, and agility drills such as lateral running, pivoting, jumping, and landing to improve awareness and control of the joints.^{9,93} A profound amount of research supports the conclusion that neuromuscular training reduces injuries in sporting activities.^{170–200} Such proprioceptive training protocols have been shown to reduce injury incidence by up to 30% in military populations.^{11,158,160,201} Beyond improvements in proprioception and motor control, neuromuscular training in the military may reduce risk for a variety of other reasons: (1) incorporating these activities reduces exposure to other physical conditioning, especially running; (2) musculoskeletal stress is more distributed across the body due to the multi-planar and multi-axial nature of the drills; and (3) strength and stabilization exercises through diverse movement patterns better prepare soldiers for the complex and unpredictable tasks experienced in Army occupational and combat duties.⁹



www.manaraa.com

Nutrition

Physical activity depletes the body's glycogen stores which is linked to reduced strength, fatigue, muscle damage and increased risk of injury.^{202–205} Original nutritional research^{204–210} and systematic reviews²⁰² suggest that replenishing muscle glycogen lowers markers of muscle damage after physical activity. Following strenuous activity, the metabolic environment is optimized for replenishing metabolized glycogen by consuming a combination of carbohydrates and protein within 60 minutes to initiate repair of muscle damage.^{203–205,209–211} According to the Work Group, the ideal balance of post-exercise nutrients to accelerate recovery is "roughly 12 to 18 grams of protein and 50 to 75 grams of carbohydrates."⁹ However, other research^{203,212,213} would suggest such numbers should not be provided as a range, but instead based on an individual's body mass. Based on the International Society of Sports Nutrition recommendations,²⁰³ 0.2 – 0.5 g protein per kg body mass and 1 – 1.5 g carbohydrates per kg body mass may be a more appropriate recommendation than a range of specific macronutrient amounts.

Mouth Guards

Orofacial injuries are common in vigorous activities, and mouthguards are mandated protective equipment in many contact sports.²¹⁴ Studies that have compared mouthguard users and nonusers in sports support the concept that mouthguards reduce the incidence of orofacial injuries.^{215–223} Army service members participate in a variety of activities that pose the risk of orofacial injuries. Research conducted during basic combat training (BCT) found that pugil stick training, bayonet training, hand-to-hand combat training, and obstacle course training were the most likely activities to lead to facial injuries. The use of mouthguards during these training activities drastically reduced the number of dental injuries during training.^{224,225}



Rigid Ankle Braces

Epidemiology for ankle injuries is well studied.^{226–232} Ankle braces have consistently shown to be effective in reducing ankle injuries during high-risk activities by greater than 50%.^{226,233–239} Among athletes, ankle braces provide the greatest protection for those who have suffered previous ankle injuries, but remain effective as a prophylactic measure as well. During U.S. Army airborne operations, the majority of injuries involve the ankle.²²⁶ Wearing ankle braces during airborne jumps led to an 85% decrease in injuries per 1,000 jumps compared to those where braces were not worn.²²⁶ Research in the U.S. Army Rangers over a three-year period demonstrated that injuries were three times higher among those not wearing ankle braces.²³⁶ Despite the effectiveness of ankle braces as an intervention, the Army discontinued their use over concerns of cost. During the time after ankle braces were discontinued, severe ankle injuries rose by 70% before the ankle brace during high-risk activities such as parachuting or long-mileage road marching, especially in individuals with a history of ankle sprains.⁹

Synthetic Socks

Friction against the skin may lead to blister formation, which can be exacerbated by moisture such as sweat.^{240–245} Hydrophobic socks designed to reduce foot moisture appear to reduce blister formation.^{246–249} Wearing a polyester or polyester blend sock draws moisture away from the skin, reducing the rate of blister injuries by 56%.⁹

Interventions Not Recommended

Numerous interventions exist that the Work Group does not recommend simply due to a lack of strong evidence supporting the intervention's efficacy as an injury prevention measure. However, some interventions are not recommended due to either a lack of evidence of proven



injury prevention (stretching and back braces) or evidence of potential harm (nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs).

Stretching

Stretching prior to exercise is commonly advocated for as a method to reduce risk of injury.¹⁵⁶ Static stretching has benefit for increasing muscle flexibility and providing temporary pain relief;^{250–254} however, several systematic reviews have reached the same conclusion that neither stretching prior to nor after exercise reduces the risk of injury.^{255–258} The Work Group does not consider it to be prudent to recommend indiscriminate stretching among service members.⁹

Back Braces

Back braces have been promoted as a preventive measure against spinal injuries in healthy populations. This recommendation has not been substantiated in scientific literature.⁹ The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and the Office of the Surgeon General do not promote or support the use of back braces as personal protective equipment.^{259,260} A systematic review in 1997 concluded no evidence to advocate for the effectiveness of such devices on the prevention of back injuries.²⁶¹ Since then, at least two other literature reviews reached the same conclusion that lumbar braces are not effective as primary or secondary prevention measures.^{262,263} The Department of Defense (DoD) specifically prohibits the use of back braces for prevention.²⁶⁴ Based on the evidence of ineffectiveness and lack of support from government health agencies, the Work Group does not endorse the use of back braces as an injury prevention intervention.⁹



Anti-inflammatory Medications

It is hypothesized that nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) may control the inflammatory response induced by muscle contractions to prevent tissue damage.⁹ However, NSAIDs cause more than 75,000 hospitalizations and 7,500 deaths in the U.S. annually.²⁶⁵ While one study²⁶⁶ demonstrated reduced exercise-induced skeletal muscle damage when administering pre-exercise NSAIDs, most research shows inconsistent results²⁶⁷ or no effect on muscle soreness or markers for muscle damage.^{268–270} Furthermore, NSAID use poses multiple harmful risks, including gastrointestinal bleeding, ulceration, kidney failure, and liver damage.^{271–273} The most common side effects are gastrointestinal responses such as stomach discomfort, bloating, cramping, pain, acid reflux, and diarrhea or constipation.²⁷⁴ These symptoms would obviously limit performance during exercise and physical activity.

Knowledge of the Problem

Barriers to Prevention

The largest challenge in implementing prevention protocols is integrating efforts into the daily activities of training and eliciting the support of the Army leadership and soldiers as a whole.⁵ Non-traumatic injuries may not be acknowledged as a "legitimate" issue, leading to a common belief that focusing on training injuries is unnecessary.^{26,61} The military mindset of exceeding training standards at any cost has created a notion that overuse injuries are an inherent consequence of being in the Army and are a means to "screen out the weak".^{7,10} Overcoming this attitude is necessary to improve awareness of the negative impacts of training-related injuries on Army combat readiness. If a lack of knowledge of the problem and its causes are used as justification to diminish the scope of the situation, prevention measures may be ignored or improperly carried out.



According to a survey conducted by the APHC, the most frequently raised concern regarding injuries was Army leadership.¹⁰ Approximately 44% of respondents agreed that Army leadership emphasized the importance of injury control; however, just under one third of respondents stated leaders held negative views or did not show support for injury prevention or rehabilitation.¹⁰ Soldiers and Army civilian employees described leaders as lacking knowledge on the Army's injury rates and as not recognizing critical prevention guidelines.¹⁰ Leaders at the unit level were characterized as encouraging overtraining, marginalizing those who are injured, and requiring injured or formerly injured individuals to perform tasks likely to result in further health complications.¹⁰ Inadequate leader understanding of reconditioning and recovery exacerbates the training-related injury problem. While there are no simple cures, military leaders must understand that musculoskeletal injuries are largely preventable, and they must put forth efforts to optimize both health and physical performance.^{5,9,21}

Another possible challenge facing prevention efforts is the chance of risk homeostasis where the end result of introducing a prevention measure is an unwanted outcome such as no change or an increase in injury risks.⁵⁷

Education as Prevention

When responding to the previously mentioned APHC survey, many soldiers could not correctly identify risk factors and interventions related to musculoskeletal injuries.¹⁰ Current Army policies do not require injury education at any level of a soldier's professional, occupational, or leadership training.¹⁰ A common response in free-text comments suggested that training – especially for unit leaders – on injuries should be provided by the Army.¹⁰ Other responses indicated a desire for training and educational materials regarding common musculoskeletal injuries, overtraining, and professional guidance about injury prevention.¹⁰



Evidence of injury risk factors, mechanisms, and prevention efforts documented only in scientific literature does not reach the general Army population or change the behaviors and attitudes of soldiers.²⁶

While it is difficult to measure the impact of education alone on injury rates, providing military commanders with instruction on proven injury control strategies is vital to aid the Army's responsibility to protect service members.^{11,12,177} The content and delivery of such education should center on improving injury awareness, injury causes, and appropriate management of injuries to enhance the effectiveness of any prevention strategy. Injury prevention education must be planned around the framework of specific activities that contribute to common injuries including information on risk factors.¹⁰ Instruction should cover injury awareness, injury control techniques, physiological principles, and application of risk management.¹¹ Guidance should also be provided on concepts of proper physical conditioning, exercise technique, and avoidance of overtraining.⁵

The most important aspect of musculoskeletal injury prevention is the education of Army leaders in safe and effective methods for training and proper injury management.⁵ The influence of leadership awareness on injury incidence in military populations cannot be understated.^{11,14,275} Higher Army commanders and military policymakers must be informed on all aspects of training-related injuries to enable them to disseminate information, implement injury prevention requirements, and guide Army-wide changes toward effective intervention.^{5,10} Broad changes may be applied by high-ranking general officers, but prevention measures will fall short without the influence and accountability of company grade commissioned officers and noncommissioned officers. As senior enlisted soldiers, noncommissioned officers have direct oversight of physical training. If provided additional education, unit leaders could guide junior soldiers in areas of



www.manaraa.com

injury prevention and rehabilitation. Army injury prevention efforts are most effective when training, application, and enforcement are applied at the unit level.²⁶

Despite considering education essential for prevention, the Army has never investigated the impact of education as a prevention measure on its own, only in conjunction with other interventions such as training modifications.^{9,11,12,14} Education on prevention would not only need to improve injury awareness but overcome the organizational culture within the Army that views injuries as inconsequential.¹²

Conclusion

A wide body of literature supports the claim that physical training-related injuries are the greatest health threat to the modern U.S. Army. Training-related injuries are the leading cause of lost duty, hospitalizations, and disability discharges.⁹ Research has identified modifiable intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors and evaluated effective prevention strategies.^{3,9,98,151} However, this data has been published in scientific literature with little information being disseminated to Army service members.²⁶ Many soldiers expressed beliefs that a lack of knowledge on prevention and recovery contribute to musculoskeletal injury rates. While education is considered a vital component of injury prevention, little evidence exists reviewing the effectiveness of education on injury incidence in the Army. By quantifying a relationship between education and injury rates, literature can begin to examine the practical impact of education as a prevention tool in military populations. The aim of this study was to investigate the impact of an injury prevention.



CHAPTER III: METHODS

Study Design

The current study used a quasi-experimental design that implemented a historical control group. Injury rates of ROTC cadets in the semester following the educational course were compared to injury rates of cadets in the same ROTC program from the fall semester of the previous academic year. Using recent prior injury data from the same ROTC program minimized initial nonequivalence of the control and intervention groups while providing access to the injury prevention education materials to the entire ROTC program.

Participants

Study participants included Army ROTC cadets enrolled at a Midwestern university. Researchers chose ROTC cadets through convenience sampling to represent the Army population. ROTC cadets are the future leaders of the Army as the majority of officers commission through college ROTC programs.²⁷⁶ Military research commonly selects from the following sampling frames: special operations warfighters,^{277,278} basic combat training recruits,^{65,279} and officer cadets^{144,280} (typically from one of the major military academies). While not yet in the military, ROTC cadets experience similar stressors to average military members in a garrison environment such as training exercises, physical readiness training, interunit competitions, tactical training, and field training exercises alongside the challenges of being a college student.^{281,282} For these reasons, the authors believed ROTC cadets adequately represented a military population for the operations of this investigation.

A total of 79 ROTC cadets (26 females, 53 males) consented to participate in the current study by allowing investigators to access their injury and APFT records. Injury data were collected from the two athletic trainers working with the ROTC on all musculoskeletal injuries



that occurred during the Fall 2017 and Fall 2018 semesters. APFT information was provided to investigators by ROTC cadre in the form of official APFT score cards. Table 1 contains average demographic information about the cadets. Cadets in the Fall 2017 semester served as the control group while cadets in the Fall 2018 semester served as the experimental group. No randomization was performed between the two groups. Preliminary analysis revealed no significant differences between the control and experimental groups based upon age, sex, height, weight, or APFT performance.

Injury Prevention Course

Prior to the injury prevention education class, cadets completed a survey on their current level of injury prevention knowledge as well as areas they would like to learn more about. With permission, the authors of the current study used a sample of questions from the APHC Injury Prevention Survey.²⁸³ Selected questions were modified to reflect the ROTC population rather than the Army as a whole. Survey questions concerned cadets' current knowledge of injury risks and areas of injury prevention and rehabilitation where they would like to learn more. Cadets also completed a short, 10-question quiz covering similar topics prior to the course.

The injury prevention education course was taught by one of the authors in a classroom setting at the start of the 2018 fall semester. The course consisted of a single class lasting approximately one hour and 15 minutes presented to the entire ROTC program. Information provided during the class covered the Army's injury statistics, the link between physical training and musculoskeletal injuries, and the working group's recommendations on injury prevention.⁹ The class emphasized injury risk factors,^{65,284} the prevention of overtraining, and the performance of "multiaxial, neuromuscular, proprioceptive, and agility training."⁹ The class also included information on topics the APHC survey¹⁰ found to be key areas where knowledge was



www.manaraa.com

lacking, such as the bimodal injury risks related to flexibility and body mass. At the close of the class, participants completed a second survey and quiz that included the same questions as those taken prior to the course to provide metrics to measure learning that may have occurred as a result of the class.

A second, 45-minute long class was given to those cadets serving leadership roles within the ROTC program as platoon sergeants, platoon leaders, company first sergeant, company commander, battalion command sergeant major, and battalion commander. The second class covered two primary topics. First, that when military leaders take an active role in prevention efforts, interventions are more successful.^{9,275} Second, more detailed recommendations on physical training alterations were provided based on guidelines from *Field Manual 7-22*,¹⁵ the American College of Sports Medicine,^{285,286} the National Strength and Conditioning Association,²⁸⁷ and previous research^{277,288,289} on Army training changes.

Injury Data Collection

Injury data were collected on all patients seen by the athletic trainers (ATs) working with the university's ROTC program. The APHC defines injury as "the damage of or interruption to the normal functioning of body tissues that results when an energy transfer exposure exceeds the threshold of tissue tolerance either suddenly (acute traumatic injury) or gradually (cumulative micro traumatic injury)."²⁹⁰ For the purpose of this study, injuries were operationally defined as tissue damage or dysfunction that partially or fully prevented cadets from participation in the ROTC military physical conditioning class for at least one day. Recorded injury information included body region, diagnosis, and whether the injury was due to an acute or chronic onset. Bilateral injuries impacting the matched contralateral region with the same mechanism and diagnosis were classified as a single injury (e.g., medial tibial stress syndrome experienced in


both legs simultaneously would be considered a single injury). Recurrent or repeated injuries to the same region with the same diagnosis within the same semester were recorded as a single, chronic event rather than multiple injuries. Reported injuries were evaluated either on-field at the designated activity site or in a clinical setting at the university's athletic training clinic.



CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

Results

Course Content Quiz

Of the ROTC cadets that participated, 69.6% (n = 55) completed the 10-question, multiple choice quiz prior to the injury prevention class and 77.2% (n = 61) completed the same quiz after the class. Figure 1 displays the percentage of correct answers to each question for both quizzes. The average correct answers on the quiz prior to the class was 40%. Most concerning were the answers to the first two questions on the quiz ("Which of the following is most responsible for running-related injuries?" and "True or false: Stretching prior to exercise has been shown to decrease injury rates."). Only 9% of cadets responded to the first question correctly, and fewer than 4% correctly answered the second prior to the course. After the class, 57% and 72% of cadets provided the correct answer for the first question and second question, respectively. The average score on the quiz after the injury prevention class was 70%. Two questions ("When adjusted for time [] leads to the most injuries." and "[] is the greatest predictor of injury in the Army.") did not see a positive change in the number of correct responses. Prior to the class, 33% and 65% of cadets provided correct answers for these two questions respectively, while only 20% and 61% did so after the class.

Survey Responses

Of the participating ROTC cadets, 68.4% (n = 54) completed the modified APHC survey¹⁰ prior to the injury prevention class and 72.2% (n = 57) completed the post-course survey. Cadets rated their aerobic endurance and muscular strength using a 5-point Likert scale. The responses to those questions may be found in Figure 2 and Figure 3. On the pre-class survey, 21 cadets stated they had suffered an injury in the previous 12 months. The self-reported



mechanisms for those injuries are included in Figure 4. Of those injured, over half (52%, n = 11)described overuse as the primary mechanism of their injury. One third (n = 7) of injured cadets reported running as the causal event for their injury. As part of both surveys, cadets responded to a question about the leading causes of injuries in the U.S. Army. The responses to that question from both surveys are found in Figure 5. Figure 6 and Figure 7 display the distribution of cadet 5-point Likert scale responses to two questions dealing with injuries in the U.S. Army. Figure 8 provides the proportion of cadet responses to questions concerning cadets' perceptions of leadership opinions on injury prevention divided by answers from injured and uninjured cadets. While injured cadets were more likely to disagree with survey statements about leadership prevention efforts, the average responses were similar between injured and uninjured cadets. The post-course survey included questions where cadets expressed the desire for further educational materials to be provided. Figure 9 and Figure 10 show the primary areas of interest. Both surveys included a series of questions dealing with a variety of injury risk factors and interventions that were reviewed by the Work Group,⁹ ranked on whether cadets believed that the factor increased or decreased the risk of injury. The cadets' answers to these questions prior to the class may be found in Table 2. Table 3 shows the cadets' responses to the same questions after the course, with answers highlighted to indicate areas where further education or training may be needed.

Injury Data

During the Fall 2017 semester, 20.3% of participating cadets suffered an injury. Of the cadets included in the study, 19.0% were injured during the Fall 2018 semester. No differences existed in the number of injuries between the historic control group (n = 16) and the experimental group (n = 15). Table 4 includes a breakdown of cadet injuries over the two



www.manaraa.com

semesters. A chi-square test of independence was performed to compare injury frequency between the two groups based on the nominal categories of body region of the injury, sex of the injured cadet, and whether the injury was due to acute or cumulative trauma. No difference between groups existed based on the region of the body injured (χ^2 (9) = 9.38, *p* = 0.403). In the control group, more female cadets (n = 9) than male cadets (n = 7) were injured. In the experimental group, more male cadets (n = 11) were injured than female cadets (n = 4). However, there was no statistically significant difference (χ^2 (1) = 2.78, *p* = 0.095) found between the two groups based on sex. A significant difference (χ^2 (1) = 3.89, *p* = 0.049) was found between the control and experimental groups based on the type of injuries cadets experienced. The control group experienced mostly (69%, n = 11) cumulative injuries while the experimental group primarily suffered acute injuries (67%, n = 10).

Discussion

Musculoskeletal injuries due to overuse from physical training are the leading threat to mission readiness in the United States Army.^{1,2,6} Little Army research has investigated the impact of education on the incidence of injuries in military populations.^{9,12,201} Previous research has revealed that service members are not knowledgeable on injury risk factors or interventions,¹⁰ potentially due to a lack of widespread distribution of scientific information to Army members.²⁶ The purpose of the current study was to examine the influence of an injury prevention class on the incidence of injuries in Army ROTC cadets. Our results found no significant difference in the number of injuries experienced by cadets the semester after an injury prevention course when compared to cadets within the same ROTC program the previous academic year.



Results of this study corroborate previous research on the use of education as an intervention in finding no significant decrease in injury risk.^{137–139,142,143} Unlike the present study, which used classroom-based instruction, most previous educational interventions have primarily used printed materials(e.g., pamphlets, booklets, etc.)^{137–139} or videos.^{142,291} Only one other study has reviewed classroom instruction as the sole intervention;¹⁴³ although, unlike the current investigation, that research was conducted on children under the age of 10. In all but one²⁹¹ of the previous studies, educational materials and instruction did not have a significant effect on injury risk. Many factors such as course content, delivery method, the teaching experience of the investigators, or even the audience receiving the instruction may have had an impact on the outcomes of these studies.

Unlike the current study, numerous studies^{144–146,292} have found education as a primary component of multi-factorial interventions to be successful. Research conducted in military populations has reached similar conclusions when combining mandatory injury education alongside other interventions such as changes to physical training and leadership support of the interventions.^{11,13,14} These previous military studies found significant decreases in injury risks through their multi-factorial interventions. These studies combined classroom instruction, educational handouts, training changes, and injury surveillance to provide a robust intervention process that led to significant decreases in injuries. Perhaps the biggest factor was leadership support (a mandatory component of successful interventions)⁹ in the form of enforcement of the prevention guidelines outlined in the educational materials and instruction. However, it is not possible to determine from this previous research which element of the multi-factorial interventions provided the greatest benefit. The results of these previous studies align with the Work Group's findings that education alone is difficult to measure as an intervention but is



effective as one part of a multi-faceted approach to prevention.⁹ While beyond the scope of this study, further research may be warranted to determine the effects in isolation of each factor that composed the interventions in these previous studies.

Potential explanations exist for the lack of impact from the educational intervention in the present study. In the successful multi-factorial interventions in military populations mentioned above,^{11,13,14} the educational interventions were of considerable length, ranging from seven hours of classroom instruction¹¹ to multiple courses taught over throughout a college semester.¹³ The present study only incorporated a single class on injury prevention to all cadets in the ROTC program and a second class to those cadets in leadership roles, totaling approximately two hours of content. On the post-course survey, most cadets expressed a desire to receive further information about topics discussed during the class (Figure 9 and Figure 10). It is possible that the range or detail of information provided was not enough to affect a significant change in the physical training-related attitudes and behaviors of the cadets.

The cadets' intrinsic risk factors may have also influenced the effect of the provided class on injury occurrence. Previous research has found a negative correlation between aerobic fitness and injury risk, where those trainees who are fitter are less likely to suffer injuries.^{64,65,101,279,284} Based on the cadets' 2-mile run times (Table 1) and the cadets' self-reported aerobic endurance (Figure 2), cadets that participated in the current study are of relatively high aerobic fitness. Such a level of physical fitness may have had a protective effect against physical training-related injuries. When comparing the cadets' opinions on injuries (Figure 5 and Figure 6) and knowledge of injury mechanisms (Figure 4) and risk factors (Table 2 and Table 3) to the survey answers of service members and Army civilians in the study by Hauschild et al.,¹⁰ the cadets that participated in the current study appeared to be better informed on injury risks and possible



interventions prior to the classes provided. Previous injury increases the risk of future injuries, and the percentage of cadets that experienced injuries in the control and intervention groups was considerably lower than numbers reported in Army BCT trainees.^{64,116} Based on these factors, it may be assumed that the majority of the cadets in our study were not at high risk of injury prior to the intervention being implemented.

While the results of this study did not support the authors' hypothesis, an unexpected result did occur. The total number of injuries between the control and intervention groups were almost identical; however, the control group saw primarily overuse injuries from cumulative trauma (69%, n = 11) and the intervention group experienced mostly acute injuries from single incidents (67%, n = 10). Similar results occurred in the research conducted at the Army War College by Knapik et al.¹³ In that study, the use of an injury prevention booklet combined with prevention classes led to an overall decrease in the number of injuries that occurred; however, while the total injuries decreased, the number of acute injuries increased after the intervention. As a potential explanation, Knapik et al.¹³ proposed that since their educational intervention focused almost exclusively on factors effecting sport and exercise-related overuse injuries it may not have had an impact on other sport-related injuries. Similarly, the current study focused on risk factors and interventions related to overuse injuries because Army service members predominantly suffer injuries due to cumulative stress from physical training. While this would support the decrease in overuse injuries, it does not provide evidence explaining the increase in acute injuries. It may be possible that training changes in response to the two classes increased the cadets' risk of certain acute injuries such as lower extremity muscle strains (the most common acute injury in the intervention group). However, the investigators of this study did not



www.manaraa.com

record data on the ROTC's physical training schedule. Therefore, no evidence exists from the current study to support such an explanation.

Limitations

The largest limitation of this study is the inability to provide causal information. Any changes found between the intervention and historic control groups could not have been directly caused by the educational material presented in the course; however, changes in injury incidence could have indirectly resulted from cadets altering their behavior and attitudes towards injury as well as modifying their physical training based on the information provided to them.

In this study, two classes were taught to the ROTC cadets, totaling approximately two hours of instruction. The experience of the investigator that designed and presented the instructional sessions may have affected the cadets' ability to learn and implement the provided information. In the study conducted by Knapik et al.,¹¹ seven hours of classroom instruction on injury prevention were provided alongside physical training modifications. Scott et al.¹⁴ provided several briefings to the military commanders at Ft. Jackson over the course of several years and eventually had injury prevention education incorporated as a mandatory component of BCT leader and instructor training. While it may not have been feasible in the present study, the educational prevention efforts may have been improved using multiple courses given throughout the academic semester to allow for more in-depth instruction on the covered topics. A related limitation may have arisen due to the ROTC cadre (current military commissioned officers and noncommissioned officers serving as instructors within the program) did not attend the classes taught to the cadets. The lack of active participation from the cadre may have led to the cadets perceiving an absence of leadership support for the prevention effort; a mandatory component of all successful interventions according to the Work Group.⁹



www.manaraa.com

An inability to record data on unreported injuries may have impacted the results of the current study. When responding to the pre-course survey, more cadets reported injuries than had been disclosed to the athletic trainer working with the ROTC program during the previous academic year. This may be attributable to the wording of the survey question; however, the possibility of cadets reverse malingering should not be ignored. Reverse malingering is a term originally coined to describe United States Air Force pilots denying medical issues to continue working in aviation.^{293,294} Individuals reverse malingering may hide or downplay the severity of injuries for a variety of psychosocial reasons. Both staff athletic trainers that worked with the ROTC program reported being aware of cadets that did not seek, or refused, medical treatment of injuries. A previous study by Almeida et al.²⁹⁵ found that of United States Marine Corps recruits, 11.6% of female recruits and 23.9% of male recruits did not report injuries suffered during initial military training. Little research has been conducted on this behavior in military populations, but such occurrences highlight the need for active injury surveillance efforts, especially when attempting to implement interventions.

Three other limitations in the present study were timeframe and sample size. Extending the time for data collection from the fall semesters to the full academic years would have provided more injury data to analyze. Likewise, the total sample size (n = 79) was adequate, but so few injuries occurred in the control and intervention groups that statistical power of the analyses performed may have been lowered. Sample size could have been increased by recruiting ROTC programs from other schools to participate in the study; however, this would have proven difficult as most ROTC programs do not employ athletic trainers and there is not a unified injury recording and surveillance system used by ROTC Cadet Command.



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER V: CONCLUSION

To the authors' knowledge this is the first study to explore the effects of an injury prevention course on injury incidence in a military population as the sole intervention. The results of this study failed to show a significant decrease in the number of injuries that occurred in ROTC cadets after an injury prevention class when compared to a previous semester. An unexpected result occurred in the form of a shift from primarily cumulative to primarily acute traumatic injuries after the class; although, the data gathered in this investigation could not provide potential explanations for such a change. Classroom instruction alone may not be a productive injury prevention initiative, but it remains an essential component of overall prevention efforts. Further research is necessary to determine how best to educate and change the attitudes and behaviors of at-risk populations when attempting to implement interventions for musculoskeletal injuries.



REFERENCES

- Jones B. Injuries in the military A review and commentary focused on prevention. *Am J Prev Med.* 2000;18(1):71-84. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00169-5.
- Nindl BC, Williams TJ, Deuster PA, Butler NL, Jones BH. Strategies for optimizing military physical readiness and preventing musculoskeletal injuries in the 21st century. US Army Med Dep J. December 2013:5-23.
- Jones B. An Armed Forces Epidemiological Board evaluation of injuries in the military. *Am J Prev Med*. 2000;18(1):14-25. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00170-1.
- Loringer K, Bedno S, Hauret K, Jones B, Kao T-C, Mallon T. Injuries from Participation in Sports, Exercise, and Recreational Activities Among Active Duty Service Members -Analysis of the April 2008 Status of Forces Survey of Active Duty members. *Army Public Health Command Aberd Proving Ground MD*. 2011;Injury Prevention Report No 12-HF-0DPT 13.
- Cowan DN, Jones BH, Shaffer RA. Musculoskeletal Injuries in the Military Training Environment. *Mil Prev Med Mobilization Deploy*. 2015;1:195-207.
- Jones BH, Canham-Chervak M, Sleet DA. An Evidence-Based Public Health Approach to Injury Priorities and Prevention. *Am J Prev Med*. 2010;38(1):S1-S10. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.10.001.
- Hauret KG, Jones BH, Bullock SH, Canham-Chervak M, Canada S. Musculoskeletal Injuries. *Am J Prev Med.* 2010;38(1):S61-S70. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.10.021.



- Ruscio BA, Jones BH, Bullock SH, Burnham BR, Canham-Chervak M, Rennix CP, Wells TS, Smith JW. A Process to Identify Military Injury Prevention Priorities Based on Injury Type and Limited Duty Days. *Am J Prev Med*. 2010;38(1):S19-S33. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.10.004.
- Bullock SH, Jones BH, Gilchrist J, Marshall SW. Prevention of physical training-related injuries recommendations for the military and other active populations based on expedited systematic reviews. *Am J Prev Med.* 2010;38(1 Suppl):S156-181. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.10.023.
- Hauschild VD, Schuh A, Jones BH. What Soldiers Know and Want to Know About Preventing Injuries: A Needs Survey Regarding a Key Thrate to Readiness. *Army Med Dep* J. 2016;January-March:10-19.
- Knapik JJ. Influence of an injury reduction program on injury and fitness outcomes among soldiers. *Inj Prev.* 2004;10(1):37-42. doi:10.1136/ip.2003.002808.
- 12. Walters TJ. Injury Prevention in the US Army, a Key Component of Transformation. *Army War Coll Strategy Res Proj Carlisle Barracks PA*. 2002.
- Knapik JJ, McCollam R, Canham-Chervak M, Hoedebecke E, Arnold S, Craig S, Barko W. Injuries and Injury Prevention among Senior Military Officers at the Army War College. *Mil Med.* 2002;167(7):593-599.
- Scott SJ, Feltwell DN, Knapik JJ, barkley CB, Hauret KG, Bullock SH, Evnas RK. A Multiple Intervention Strategy for Reducing Femoral Neck Stress Injuries and Other Serious Overuse Injuries in US Army Basic Combat Training. *Mil Med.* 2012;177(9):1081-1089.



- FM 7-22: Army Physical Readiness Training. Washington, D.C.: Department of the Army;
 2012.
- 16. *DoD Physical Fitness and Body Fat Programs Procedures*. Washington, D.C.: Department of Defense; 2002.
- Groeller H, Burley S, Orchard P, Sampson JA, Billing DC, Linnane D. How Effective is Initial Military-specific Training in the Development of Physical Performance of Soldiers? *J Strength Cond Res.* 2015;29(11S):S158-S162.
- Kaufman KR, Brodine S, Shaffer R. Military Training-related Injuries: Surveillance, Research, and Prevention. *Am J Prev Med.* 2000;18(3S):54-63.
- Jones BJ, Hauschild VD. Physical Training, Fitness, and Injuries: Lessons Learned from Military Studies. J Strength Cond Res. 2015;29(11):S57-S64.
- 20. Rumsfeld D. Memorandum: Reducing Preventable Accidents. June 2006.
- 21. Deuster PA, O'Connor FG. Human Performance Optimization: Culture Change and Paradigm Shift. *J Strength Cond Res.* 2015;29(11S):S52-S56.
- 22. Nindl BC, Jaffin DP, Dretsch MN, Cheuvront SN, Wesenstein NJ, Kent ML, Grunberg NE, Pierce JR, Barry ES, Scott JM, Young AJ, O'Connor FG, Deuster PA. Human Performance Optimization Metrics: Consensus Findings, Gaps, and Recommendations for Future Research. J Strength Cond Res. 2015;29(11S):S221-S245.
- 23. Brundage JF. Military preventive medicine and medical surveillance in the post-cold war era. *Mil Med.* 1998;163(5):272-277.
- Jones BH, Knapik JJ. Physical Training and Exercise-related Injuries: Surveillance, Research and Injury Prevention in Military Populations. *Sports Med.* 1999;27(2):111-125.
- 25. Robertson L. Injury Epidemiology. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 1992.



- Jones BH, Hauschild VD, Canham-Chervak M. Musculoskeletal training injury prevention in the U.S. Army: Evolution of the science and the public health approach. *J Sci Med Sport*. March 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2018.02.011.
- Cameron KL, Owens BD. The Burden and Management of Sports-related Musculoskeletal Injuries and Conditions within the US Military.
- Cameron KL, Owens BD, DeBerardino TM. Incidence of Ankle Sprains Among Active-Duty Members of the United States Armed Services From 1998 Through 2006. *J Athl Train*. 2010;45(1):29-38. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-45.1.29.
- Fithian DC, Paxton EW, Stone ML, Silva P, Davis DK, Elias DA, White LM.
 Epidemiology and Natural History of Acute Patellar Dislocation. *Am J Sports Med*.
 2004;32(5):1114-1121. doi:10.1177/0363546503260788.
- Hsiao M, Owens BD, Burks R, Sturdivant RX, Cameron KL. Incidence of Acute Traumatic Patellar Dislocation among Active-Duty United States Military Service Members. *Am J Sports Med.* 2010;38(10):1997-2004. doi:10.1177/0363546510371423.
- Jones JC, Burks R, Owens BD, Sturdivant RX, Svoboda SJ, Cameron KL. Incidence and Risk Factors Associated with Meniscal Injuries Among Active-Duty US Military Service Members. J Athl Train. 2012;47(1):67-73. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-47.1.67.
- Owens BD, Dawson L, Burks R, Cameron KL. Incidence of Shoulder Dislocation in the United States Military: Demographic Considerations from a High-Risk Population: *J Bone Jt Surg-Am Vol.* 2009;91(4):791-796. doi:10.2106/JBJS.H.00514.
- Waterman CBR, Owens MBD, Davey CS, Zacchilli CMA, Belmont LCPJ. The Epidemiology of Ankle Sprains in the United States: *J Bone Jt Surg-Am Vol.* 2010;92(13):2279-2284. doi:10.2106/JBJS.I.01537.



- 34. Wolf JM, Dawson L, Mountcastle SB, Owens BD. The incidence of scaphoid fracture in a military population. *Injury*. 2009;40(12):1316-1319. doi:10.1016/j.injury.2009.03.045.
- Zacchilli MA, Owens BD. Epidemiology of Shoulder Dislocations Presenting to Emergency Departments in the United States: *J Bone Jt Surg-Am Vol*. 2010;92(3):542-549. doi:10.2106/JBJS.I.00450.
- Cameron KL, Owens BD. The Burden and Management of Sports-Related Musculoskeletal Injuries and Conditions Within the US Military. *Clin Sports Med.* 2014;33(4):573-589. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2014.06.004.
- Jones BH, Cowan DN, Tomlinson JP, Robinson JR, Polly DW, Frykman PN. Epidemiology of Injuries Associated with Physical Training among Young men in the Army. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* July 1992:197-203.
- Almeida SA, Williams KM, Shaffer RA, Brodine SK. Epidemiological patterns of musculoskeletal injuries and physical training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1999;31(8):1176-1182.
- Linenger J, Flinn S, Thomas B, Johnson C. Musculoskeletal and Medical Morbidity Associated with Rigorous Physical Training. *Clin J Sport Med.* 1993;3:229-234.
- 40. Reinker KA, Ozburne S. A comparison of male and female orthopaedic pathology in basic training. *Mil Med.* 1979;144(8):532-536.
- Tomlinson JP, Lednar WM, Jackson JD. Risk of Injury in Soldiers. *Mil Med*. 1987;152(2):60-64. doi:10.1093/milmed/152.2.60.
- 42. Brunet ME, Cook SD, Brinker MR, Dickinson JA. A survey of running injuries in 1505 competitive and recreational runners. *J Sports Med Phys Fitness*. 1990;30(3):307-315.



- 43. Garrick JG, Requa RK. Injuries in High School sports. *Pediatrics*. 1978;61(3):465-469.
- Koplan J, Powell K, Sikes R, Shirley R, Campbell C. An Epidemiologic Study of the Benefits and Risks of Running. *J Card Rehabil*. 1983;3(10):714.
- 45. Korkia PK, Tunstall-Pedoe DS, Maffulli N. An epidemiological investigation of training and injury patterns in British triathletes. *Br J Sports Med.* 1994;28(3):191-196. doi:10.1136/bjsm.28.3.191.
- Kraus JF, Conroy C. Mortality and Morbidity from Injuries in Sports and Recreation. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 1984;5:163-192.
- 47. Marti B, Vader JP, Minder CE, Abelin T. On the epidemiology of running injuries: The 1984 Bern Grand-Prix study. *Am J Sports Med.* 1988;16(3):285-294. doi:10.1177/036354658801600316.
- Requa RK, DeAvilla LN, Garrick JG. Injuries in recreational adult fitness activities. *Am J Sports Med.* 1993;21(3):461-467. doi:10.1177/036354659302100323.
- 49. Walter SD. The Ontario Cohort Study of Running-Related Injuries. *Arch Intern Med.* 1989;149(11):2561. doi:10.1001/archinte.1989.00390110113025.
- Walter SD, Hart LE, Sutton JR, McIntosh JM, Gauld M. Training Habits and Injury Experience in Distance Runners: Age-and Sex-Related Factors. *Phys Sportsmed*. 1988;16(6):101-113. doi:10.1080/00913847.1988.11709531.
- Jones BH, Canham-Chervak M, Canada S, Mitchener TA, Moore S. Medical Surveillance of Injuries in the U.S. Military. *Am J Prev Med*. 2010;38(1):S42-S60. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.10.014.



- 52. Ruscio B, Smith J, Amoroso P, Anslinger J, Bullock S, Burnham B, Campbell J, Canham-Chervak M, Garver R, Godwin E, Harvey M, Hooper T, Jones B, Reinhard D, Phillips J, Rennix C, Riddle J, Scott J, Seibert J, Smith R, Thomas D, Trone D, Webster P, Wells T, Wilkening R. *DoD Military Injury Prevention Priorities Working Group: Leading Injuries, Causes and Mitigation Recommendations*. Office of the Secretary of Defense, Health Affairs; 2006.
- Cohen SP, Brown C, Kurihara C, Plunkett A, Nguyen C, Strassels SA. Diagnoses and factors associated with medical evacuation and return to duty among nonmilitary personnel participating in military operations in Iraq and Afghanistan. *Can Med Assoc J*. 2011;183(5):E289-E295. doi:10.1503/cmaj.100244.
- 54. Amoroso P, Canham M. Disabilities Related to the Musculoskeletal System: Physical Evaluation Board data. In: *Atlas of Injuries in the U.S. Armed Forces*. Fort Detrick, MD: US Army Medical Research and Material command; 1999.
- Knapik J, Ang P, Reynolds K. Physical Fitness, Age, and Injury Incidence in Infantry Soldiers. *J Occup Med.* 1993;35(6):598-603.
- Lauder T. Sports and physical training injury hospitalizations in the Army. *Am J Prev Med*. 2000;18(1):118-128. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00174-9.
- Bahr R. Understanding injury mechanisms: a key component of preventing injuries in sport. Br J Sports Med. 2005;39(6):324-329. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2005.018341.
- Fung Y. Accidental Injury: Biomechanics and Prevention. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag; 1993.



- 59. Halperin WE. The role of surveillance in the hierarchy of prevention. *Am J Ind Med*.
 1996;29(4):321-323. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0274(199604)29:4<321::AID-AJIM8>3.0.CO;2-R.
- 60. Weeks J, Levy B, Wagner G. *Preventing Occupational Disease and Injury*. Washington,D.C.: American Public Health Association; 1991.
- Peake JB. Reflections on Injuries in the Military: the Hidden Epidemic. *Am J Prev Med*. 2000;18(3S):4-5.
- 62. Whiting WC, Zernicke RF. *Biomechanics of Musculoskeletal Injury*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 1998.
- 63. Brudvig TJ, Gudger TD, Obermeyer L. Stress fractures in 295 trainees: a one-year study of incidence as related to age, sex, and race. *Mil Med.* 1983;148(8):666-667.
- 64. Jones BH, Bovee MW, Harris JM, Cowan DN. Intrinsic risk factors for exercise-related injuries among male and female army trainees. *Am J Sports Med.* 1993;21(5):705-710. doi:10.1177/036354659302100512.
- 65. Knapik JJ, Sharp MA, Canham-Chervak M, Hauret K, Patton JF, Jones BH. Risk Factors for Training-related Injuries among Men and Women in Basic Combat Training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. August 2001:946-954.
- 66. Cowan D, Jones B, Tomlinson P. The Epidemiology of Physical Training Injuries in US Army Infantry Trainees: Methodology, Population, and Risk Factors. Natick, MA: U.S. Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine; 1988.



- 67. Heir T, Eide G. Injury proneness in infantry conscripts undergoing a physical training programme: smokeless tobacco use, higher age, and low levels of physical fitness are risk factors. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2007;7(5):304-311. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.1997.tb00158.x.
- Jones BH, Cowan DN, Knapik JJ. Exercise, Training and Injuries*: Sports Med. 1994;18(3):202-214. doi:10.2165/00007256-199418030-00005.
- Shaffer R, Brodine S, Ronaghy S, Aronen J, Gay L, Almeida S, Johnson WC. Predicting Stress Fractures during Rigorous Physical Training Using Simple Measures of Physical Fitness and Activity. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1995;27(5):S78.
- Cowan DN, Jones BH, Frykman PN, Polly DW, Harman EA, Rosenstein RM, Rosenstein MT. Lower limb morphology and risk of overuse injury among male infantry trainees. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1996;28(8):945-952.
- 71. Hsu RW, Himeno S, Coventry MB, Chao EY. Normal axial alignment of the lower extremity and load-bearing distribution at the knee. *Clin Orthop*. 1990;(255):215-227.
- Cowan DN, Jones BH, Robinson JR. Foot Morphologic Characteristics and Risk of Exercise-related Injuries. *Arch Fam Med.* 1993;2:773-777.
- Finestone A, Shlamkovitch N, Eldad A, Wosk J, Laor A, Danon YL, Milgrom C. Risk Factors for Stress Fractures among Israeli Infantry Recruits. *Mil Med.* 1991;156(10):528-530. doi:10.1093/milmed/156.10.528.
- Kaufman KR, Brodine SK, Shaffer RA, Johnson CW, Cullison TR. The Effect of Foot Structure and Range of Motion on Musculoskeletal Overuse Injuries. *Am J Sports Med*. 1999;27(5):585-593. doi:10.1177/03635465990270050701.



- 75. Jones B, Bovee M, Knapik J. The Association between Body Composition, Physical Fitness, and Injuries among Male and Female Army Trainees. In: Marriott B, Grumstrup-Scott, eds. *Body Composition and Physical Performance*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press; 1992:141-173.
- 76. Beck TJ, Ruff CB, Mourtada FA, Shaffer RA, Maxwell-Williams K, Kao GL, Sartoris DJ, Brodine S. Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry derived structural geometry for stress fracture prediction in male U.S. marine corps recruits. *J Bone Miner Res*. 2009;11(5):645-653. doi:10.1002/jbmr.5650110512.
- Giladi M, Milgrom C, Simkin A, Danon Y. Stress fractures: Identifiable risk factors. *Am J Sports Med.* 1991;19(6):647-652. doi:10.1177/036354659101900617.
- 78. Jones BH, Manikowsky R, Harris J, Dziados J, Norton S, Ewart T, Vogel J. Incidence of and Risk Factors for Injury and Illness among Male and Female Army Basic Trainees. Natick, MA: U.S. Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine; 1988.
- Jones B, Suitor C, Kraak V. Physical Activity and Risk Maximizing Benefits: Risks of Musculoskeletal Injury. In: *Adequacy of Evidence for Physical Activity Guidelines Development: Workshop Summary*. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press; 2007:73-94.
- Molloy JM, Feltwell DN, Scott SJ, Niebuhr DW. Physical Training Injuries and Interventions for Military Recruits. *Mil Med.* 2012;177(5):553-558.
- Bensel C, Kish R. Lower Extremity Disorders among Men and Women in Army Basic Training and Effects of Two Types of Boots. In: Natick, Mass: US Army Research and Development Laboratories; 1983.



- Pester S, Smith PC. Stress fractures in the lower extremities of soldiers in basic training. Orthop Rev. 1992;21(3):297-303.
- Protzman R, Griffis C. Comparative Stress Fracture Incidence in Males and Females in an Equal Training Environment. *Athl Train*. 1977;12:126-130.
- Bell N. High injury rates among female Army trainees A function of gender? *Am J Prev Med.* 2000;18(1):141-146. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00173-7.
- 85. Canham ML, McFerren MA, Jones BH. *The Association of Injuries with Physical Fitness among Men and Women in Gender Integrated Basic Combat Training Units.*; 1996:2.
- Reynolds KL, Heckel HA, Witt CE, Martin JW, Pollard JA, Knapik JJ, Jones BH. Cigarette Smoking, Physical Fitness, and Injuries in Infantry Soldiers. *Am J Prev Med*. 1994;10(3):145-150. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(18)30610-X.
- Linenger JM, Shwayhat AF. Epidemiology of Podiatric Injuries in US Marine Recruits Undergoing Basic Training. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc. 1992;82(5):269-271.
- Ross J, Woodward A. Risk factors for injury during basic military training. Is there a social element to injury pathogenesis? *J Occup Med Off Publ Ind Med Assoc*. 1994;36(10):1120-1126.
- Shwayhat AF, Linenger JM, Hofherr LK, Slymen DJ, Johnson CW. Profiles of Exercise History and Overuse Injuries Among United States Navy Sea, Air, and Land (SEAL) Recruits. *Am J Sports Med.* 1994;22(6):835-840. doi:10.1177/036354659402200616.



- 90. Owens BD, Wolf JM, Seelig AD, Jacobson IG, Boyko EJ, Smith B, Ryan MAK, Gackstetter GD, Smith TC, for the Millennium Cohort Study Team, Bagnell M, Creaven G, Crum-Cianflone N, Davies J, Granado N, Hernando D, Horton J, Jones K, LeardMann C, Lee W, Linfesty M, Lynch G, McMaster H, Medina-Torne S, Pietrucha A, Powell T, Sausedo K, Sheppard B, Snell K, Speigle S, White M, Whitmer J, Wong C. Risk Factors for Lower Extremity Tendinopathies in Military Personnel. *Orthop J Sports Med*. 2013;1(1):232596711349270. doi:10.1177/2325967113492707.
- Milgrom C, Finestone A, Shlamkovitch N, Rand N, Lev B, Simkin A, Wiener M. Youth is a risk factor for stress fracture. A study of 783 infantry recruits. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 1994;76-B(1):20-22. doi:10.1302/0301-620X.76B1.8300674.
- 92. Rice D, McKenzie E. Cost of Injuries in the United States: A Report to Congress. University of California: Institute for Aging and Health; 1989.
- Molloy JM. Factors Influencing Running-related Musculoskeletal Injury Risk among US Military Recruits. *Mil Med.* 2016;181(6):512-523.
- Macera CA. Predicting Lower-Extremity Injuries Among Habitual Runners. Arch Intern Med. 1989;149(11):2565. doi:10.1001/archinte.1989.00390110117026.
- Knapik J, Montain S, McGraw S, Grier T, Ely M, Jones B. Stress Fracture Risk Factors in Basic Combat Training. *Int J Sports Med.* 2012;33(11):940-946. doi:10.1055/s-0032-1311583.
- 96. Assessing Fitness for Military Enlistment: Physical, Medical, and Mental Health Standards. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press; 2006. doi:10.17226/11511.



- Blacker SD, Wilkinson DM, Bilzon JLJ, Rayson MP. Risk Factors for Training Injuries among British Army Recruits. *Mil Med*. 2008;173(3):278-286. doi:10.7205/MILMED.173.3.278.
- 98. Jones BH, Darakjy S, Knapik JJ. Aerobic Fitness, Body Mass Index and risk of Injury during Army Basic Combat Training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2004;36(5):S308.
- Altarac M. Cigarette smoking and exercise-related injuries among young men and women.
 Am J Prev Med. 2000;18(1):96-102. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00166-X.
- 100. Conway TL, Cronan TA. Smoking, exercise, and physical fitness. *Prev Med*.1992;21(6):723-734.
- 101. Knapik J, Sharp M, Canham M, Hauret K, Cuthie J, Hewiston W, Hoedebecke E, Lauren M, Polyak C, Caroll D, Jones B. *Injury Incidence and Injury Risk Factors among U.S. Army Basic Trainees, Ft. Jackson, South Carolina 1998.* Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD:
 U.S. Army Center for Health Promotion and Preventive Medicine; 1999.
- 102. Knapik JJ, Grier T, Spiess A, Swedler DI, Hauret KG, Graham B, Jones BH. Prospective Investigation of Injury Rates and Injury Risk Factors among Federal Bureau of Investigation New Agent Trainees. Quantico, VA - Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD: US Army Public Health Command - Federal Bureau of Investigation, Human Resources Division, Office of Medical Services, Health Care Programs Unit; 2010.
- 103. Hersey P, Prendergast D, Edwards A. Effects of cigarette smoking on the immune system.
 Follow-up studies in normal subjects after cessation of smoking. *Med J Aust*.
 1983;2(9):425-429.
- 104. Mosely LH, Finseth F, Goody M. Nicotine and its effect on wound healing. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 1978;61(4):570-575.



- 105. Reus WF, Robson MC, Zachary L, Heggers JP. Acute effects of tobacco smoking on blood flow in the cutaneous micro-circulation. *Br J Plast Surg.* 1984;37(2):213-215. doi:10.1016/0007-1226(84)90011-0.
- 106. Siana JE, Rex S, Gottrup F. The effect of cigarette smoking on wound healing. *Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg.* 1989;23(3):207-209. doi:10.3109/02844318909075119.
- 107. Yarnell JW, Sweetnam PM, Rogers S, Elwood PC, Bainton D, Baker IA, Eastham R,
 O'Brien JR, Etherington MD. Some long term effects of smoking on the haemostatic system: a report from the Caerphilly and Speedwell Collaborative Surveys. *J Clin Pathol.* 1987;40(8):909-913. doi:10.1136/jcp.40.8.909.
- 108. Rauh MJ, Macera CA, Trone DW, Shaffer RA, Brodine SK. Epidemiology of Stress Fracture and Lower-Extremity Overuse Injury in Female Recruits: *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2006;38(9):1571-1577. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000227543.51293.9d.
- 109. Garcin M, Vautier J-F, Vandewalle H, Monod H. Ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) as an index of aerobic endurance during local and general exercises. *Ergonomics*.
 1998;41(8):1105-1114. doi:10.1080/001401398186414.
- 110. Hickson RC, Foster C, Pollock ML, Galassi TM, Rich S. Reduced training intensities and loss of aerobic power, endurance, and cardiac growth. *J Appl Physiol*. 1985;58(2):492-499. doi:10.1152/jappl.1985.58.2.492.
- 111. Candau R, Belli A, Millet GY, Georges D, Barbier B, Rouillon JD. Energy cost and running mechanics during a treadmill run to voluntary exhaustion in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 1998;77(6):479-485. doi:10.1007/s004210050363.
- 112. Holloszy JO. Biochemical Adaptations to Exercise: Aerobic Metabolism. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* 1973;1(1):45-72.



- 113. Johnston RB, Howard ME, Cawley PW, Losse GM. Effect of lower extremity muscular fatigue on motor control performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1998;30(12):1703-1707.
- Mair SD, Seaber AV, Glisson RR, Garrett WE. The Role of Fatigue in Susceptibility to Acute Muscle Strain Injury. *Am J Sports Med.* 1996;24(2):137-143. doi:10.1177/036354659602400203.
- 115. Knapik JJ, Graham BS, Rieger J, Steelman R, Pendergrass T. Activities Associated With Injuries in Initial Entry Training. *Mil Med.* 2013;178(5):500-506. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-12-00507.
- 116. Knapik JJ, Hauret KG, Canada S, Marin R, Jones B. Association between Ambulatory Physical Activity and Injuries during United States Army Basic Combat Training. J Phys Act Health. 2011;8(4):496-502. doi:10.1123/jpah.8.4.496.
- 117. Pollock ML, Gettman LR, Milesis CA, Bah MD, Durstine L, Johnson RB. Effects of frequency and duration of training on attrition and incidence of injury. *Med Sci Sports*. 1977;9(1):31-36.
- 118. Jacobs SJ, Berson BL. Injuries to runners: A study of entrants to a 10,000 meter race. *Am J Sports Med.* 1986;14(2):151-155. doi:10.1177/036354658601400211.
- 119. Reynolds K, Pollard J, Cunero J, Knapik J, Jones B. Frequency of Training and Past Injuries as Risk Factors for Injuries in Infantry Soldiers. Natick, MA: U.S. Army Research Institute of Environmental Medicine; 1990.
- 120. Bennell K, Matheson G, Meeuwisse W, Brukner P. Risk Factors for Stress Fractures: Sports Med. 1999;28(2):91-122. doi:10.2165/00007256-199928020-00004.
- 121. Hreljac A. Impact and Overuse Injuries in Runners: *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. May 2004:845-849. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000126803.66636.DD.



- 122. Kaeding C, Tomczak RL. Running injuries about the knee. *Clin Podiatr Med Surg*. 2001;18(2):307-318.
- 123. Koplan JP, Rothenberg RB, Jones EL. The natural history of exercise: a 10-yr follow-up of a cohort of runners. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1995;27(8):1180-1184.
- 124. McKeag DB. Overuse injuries. The concept in 1992. Prim Care. 1991;18(4):851-865.
- 125. Paty JG. Running injuries. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 1994;6(2):203-209.
- 126. Pell RF, Khanuja HS, Cooley RG. Leg Pain in the Running Athlete. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2004;12(6):396-404.
- 127. Watson AS. Running injuries--knees to toes. Aust Fam Physician. 1988;17(2):99-103.
- 128. Wexler RK. Lower extremity injuries in runners: Helping athletic patients return to form. *Postgrad Med.* 1995;98(4):185-193. doi:10.1080/00325481.1995.11946064.
- 129. Nielsen RO, Nohr EA, Rasmussen S, Sørensen H. Classifying running-related injuries based upon etiology, with emphasis on volume and pace. *Int J Sports Phys Ther*. 2013;8(2):172-179.
- 130. Nielsen RØ, Parner ET, Nohr EA, Sørensen H, Lind M, Rasmussen S. Excessive Progression in Weekly Running Distance and Risk of Running-Related Injuries: An Association Which Varies According to Type of Injury. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2014;44(10):739-747. doi:10.2519/jospt.2014.5164.
- 131. Kowal DM. Nature and causes of injuries in women resulting from an endurance training program. Am J Sports Med. 1980;8(4):265-269. doi:10.1177/036354658000800410.
- 132. Marti* B. Benefits and Risks of Running Among Women: An Epidemiologic Study. Int J Sports Med. 1988;09(02):92-98. doi:10.1055/s-2007-1024985.



- 133. Marti B. Relationships between Running Injuries and Running Shoes: Results of a Study of 5000 Participants of a 16km run, May 1984 Bern Grand Prix. In: Segasser B, Pfoerringer W, eds. *The Shoe in Sport*. Chicago: Yearbook Medical Publishers; 1989:256-265.
- 134. Grier T, Canham-Chervak M, McNulty V, Jones BH. Extreme Conditioning Programs and Injury Risk in a US Army Brigade Combat Team. Army Med Dep J. 2013(October-December):36-47.
- 135. van Mechelen W, Hlobil H, Kemper HCG. Incidence, Severity, Aetiology and Prevention of Sports Injuries: A Review of Concepts. *Sports Med.* 1992;14(2):82-99. doi:10.2165/00007256-199214020-00002.
- 136. Mellion M, Ketner J. Medical Syndromes Unique to Athletes. In: *Office Sports Medicine*.2nd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Mosby; 1996.
- 137. Daltroy LH, Iversen MD, Larson MG, Lew R, Wright E, Ryan J, Zwerling C, Fossel AH, Liang MH. A Controlled Trial of an Educational Program to Prevent Low Back Injuries. *N Engl J Med.* 1997;337(5):322-328.
- 138. Dershewitz RA, Williamson JW. Prevention of Childhood Household Injuries: A Controlled Clinical Trial. Am J Public Health. 1977;67(12):1148-1154.
- 139. Hazard RG, Reid S, Haugh LD, McFarlane G. A Controlled Trial of and Educational Pamphlet to Prevent Disability After Occupational Low Back Injury. *Spine*. 2000;25(11):1419-1423.
- 140. Leppänen M, Aaltonen S, Parkkari J, Heinonen A, Kujala UM. Interventions to Prevent Sports Related Injuries: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. *Sports Med.* 2014;44(4):473-486. doi:10.1007/s40279-013-0136-8.



- 141. Stevens M, Holman DJ, Bennett N, de Klerk N. Preventing Falls in Older People: Outcome Evaluation of a Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2001;49(11):1448-1455.
- 142. Arnason A, Engebretsen L, Bahr R. No Effect of a Video-Based Awareness Program on the Rate of Soccer Injuries. *Am J Sports Med.* 2005;33(1):77-84. doi:10.1177/0363546503262688.
- 143. Cusimano M, Luong WP, Faress A, Leroux T, Russell K. Evaluation of a ski and snowboard injury prevention program. *Int J Inj Contr Saf Promot*. 2013;20(1):13-18. doi:10.1080/17457300.2011.648677.
- 144. DiStefano LJ, Marshall SW, Padua DA, Peck KY, Beutler AI, de la Motte SJ, Frank BS, Martinez JC, Cameron KL. The Effects of an Injury Prevention Program on Landing Biomechanics Over Time. *Am J Sports Med.* 2016;44(3):767-776. doi:10.1177/0363546515621270.
- 145. Goossens L, Cardon G, Witvrouw E, Steyaert A, De Clercq D. A multifactorial injury prevention intervention reduces injury incidence in Physical Education Teacher Education students. *Eur J Sport Sci.* 2016;16(3):365-373. doi:10.1080/17461391.2015.1015619.
- 146. Vercruysse S, Haerens L, Verhagen E, Goossens L, De Clercq D. Effects of a multifactorial injury prevention intervention in physical education teachers: A randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Sport Sci.* 2016;16(7):868-876. doi:10.1080/17461391.2016.1140812.
- 147. Klassen T, MacKay J, Moher D. Community-based Injury Prevention Interventions. *Future Child*. 2000;10:83-110.
- 148. Timpka T, Lindqvist K, Ahlgren M. Community-based Injury Prevention: Effects on Health Care Utilization. *Int J Epidemiol.* 1999;28:502-508.



- 149. Tinetti ME, Baker DI, McAvay G, Claus EB, Garrett P, Gottschalk M, Koch ML, Trainor K, Horwitz RI. A Multifactorial Intervention to Reduce the Risk of Falling among Elderly People Living in the Community. *N Engl J Med.* 1994;331(13):821-827. doi:10.1056/NEJM199409293311301.
- 150. Courie AF, Rivera MS, Pompey A. Managing Public Health in the Army through a Standard Community Health Promotion Council Model. US Army Med Dep J. 2014;(Jul-Sep):82-90.
- 151. Canham-Chervak M, Hooper TI, Brennan FH, Craig SC, Girasek DC, Schaefer RA, Barbour G, Yew KS, Jones BH. A Systematic Process to Prioritize Prevention Activities. *Am J Prev Med.* 2010;38(1):S11-S18. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.10.003.
- 152. Horan JM, Mallonee S. Injury surveillance. *Epidemiol Rev.* 2003;25:24-42.
- 153. Thacker SB. Public health surveillance and the prevention of injuries in sports: what gets measured gets done. *J Athl Train*. 2007;42(2):171-172.
- 154. Gettman LR, Pollock ML, Durstine JL, Ward A, Ayres J, Linnerud AC. Physiological Responses of Men to 1, 3, and 5 Day per Week Training Programs. *Res Q Am Alliance Health Phys Educ Recreat*. 1976;47(4):638-646.
- 155. Pollock ML. The Quantification of Endurance Training Programs. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*. 1973;1(1):155-188.
- 156. Pollock ML, Gaesser GA, Butcher JD, Despres J-P, Dishman RK, Franklin BA, Garber CE. ACSM Position Stand: The Recommended Quantity and Quality of Exercise for Developing and Maintaining Muscular Fitness and Flexibility in Healthy Adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1998;30(6):975-991.



- 157. Wenger HA, Bell GJ. The Interactions of Intensity, Frequency and Duration of Exercise Training in Altering Cardiorespiratory Fitness: *Sports Med.* 1986;3(5):346-356. doi:10.2165/00007256-198603050-00004.
- 158. Knapik JJ, Hauret KG, Arnold S, Canham-Chervak M, Mansfield AJ, Hoedebecke EL, McMillian D. Injury and Fitness Outcomes During Implementation of Physical Readiness Training. Army Cent Health Promot Prev Med Aberd Proving Ground MD. 2003.
- 159. Almeida S, Williams K, Moinagawa R, Benas D, Shaffer R. Guidelines for Developing a Physical Training Program for U.S. Navy Recruits. San Diego, CA: Naval Health Research Center; 1997.
- 160. Almeida S, Williams K, Shaffer R, Luz J, Badong E. A Physical Training Program to Reduce Musculoskeletal Injuries in U.S. Marine Corps Recruits. San Diego, CA: Naval Health Research Center; 1997.
- 161. Pope RP. Prevention of Pelvic Stress Fractures in Female Army Recruits. *Mil Med.* 1999;164(5):370-373.
- 162. Rice VJ, Connolly VL, Bergeron A, Mays MZ, Evans-Christopher GM, Allgood BD, Mickelson S. Evaluation of a Progressive Unit-Based Running Program during Advanced Individual Training. Ft Sam Houston, TX: U.S. Army Medical Command; 2002.
- 163. Rome K, Handoll HH, Ashford RL. Interventions for preventing and treating stress fractures and stress reactions of bone of the lower limbs in young adults. Cochrane Bone, Joint and Muscle Trauma Group, ed. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* April 2005. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD000450.pub2.



- 164. Rudzki SJ. Injuries in Australian Army Recruits. Part I: Decreased Incidence and Severity of Injury Seen with Reduced Running Distance. *Mil Med.* 1997;162(7):472-476. doi:10.1093/milmed/162.7.472.
- 165. Rudzki SJ, Cunningham MJ. The Effect of a Modified Physical Training Program in Reducing Injury and Medical Discharge Rates in Australian Army Recruits. *Mil Med.* 1999;164(9):648-652. doi:10.1093/milmed/164.9.648.
- 166. Wilmore J, Costill D. Quantifying Sports Training. In: *Physiology of Sport and Exercise*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 2004.
- 167. Fry RW, Morton AR, Garcia-Webb P, Crawford GPM, Keast D. Biological responses to overload training in endurance sports. *Eur J Appl Physiol*. 1992;64(4):335-344. doi:10.1007/BF00636221.
- 168. Field Manual 21-20: Physical Training. 3rd ed. Washington, D.C.: Department of the Army; 1993.
- 169. Trone D, Hagan R, Shaffer R. Physical Training Program Guidelines for U.S. Navy Recruits: Preparing Recruits for Battle Stations. San Diego, CA: Navla Health Research Center; 1999.
- 170. Ageberg E, Zätterström R, Moritz U, Fridén T. Influence of Supervised and Nonsupervised Training on Postural Control After an Acute Anterior Cruciate Ligament Rupture: A Threeyear Longitudinal Prospective Study. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*. 2001;31(11):632-644. doi:10.2519/jospt.2001.31.11.632.
- 171. Bandettini MP, Innocenti G, Contini M, Paternostro F, Lova RM. Postural control in order to prevent chronic locomotor injuries in top level athletes. *Ital J Anat Embryol Arch Ital Anat Ed Embriologia*. 2003;108(4):189-194.



- 172. Blackburn T, Guskiewicz KM, Petschauer MA, Prentice WE. Balance and Joint Stability: The Relative Contributions of Proprioception and Muscular Strength. *J Sport Rehabil*. 2000;9(4):315-328. doi:10.1123/jsr.9.4.315.
- 173. Cahill BR, Griffith EH. Effect of preseason conditioning on the incidence and severity of high school football knee injuries. *Am J Sports Med.* 1978;6(4):180-184. doi:10.1177/036354657800600406.
- 174. Caraffa A, Cerulli G, Projetti M, Aisa G, Rizzo A. Prevention of anterior cruciate ligament injuries in soccer: A prospective controlled study of proprioceptive training. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 1996;4(1):19-21. doi:10.1007/BF01565992.
- 175. Carter ND. Results of a 10 week community based strength and balance training programme to reduce fall risk factors: a randomised controlled trial in 65-75 year old women with osteoporosis. *Br J Sports Med.* 2001;35(5):348-351. doi:10.1136/bjsm.35.5.348.
- 176. Cerulli G, Benoit DL, Caraffa A, Ponteggia F. Proprioceptive Training and Prevention of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries in Soccer. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2001;31(11):655-660.
- 177. Ekstrand J, Gillquist J, Liljedahl SO. Prevention of soccer injuries. Supervision by doctor and physiotherapist. *Am J Sports Med.* 1983;11(3):116-120. doi:10.1177/036354658301100302.
- 178. Emery CA. Effectiveness of a home-based balance-training program in reducing sportsrelated injuries among healthy adolescents: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Can Med Assoc J.* 2005;172(6):749-754. doi:10.1503/cmaj.1040805.



- 179. Ettlinger CF, Johnson RJ, Shealy JE. A Method to Help Reduce the Risk of Serious Knee Sprains Incurred in Alpine Skiing. *Am J Sports Med.* 1995;23(5):531-537. doi:10.1177/036354659502300503.
- 180. Gervais PL. Movement Changes in Landings from a Jump as a Result of Instruction in Children. *Coach Sport Sci J.* 1997;2(3):11-16.
- 181. Heidt RS, Sweeterman LM, Carlonas RL, Traub JA, Tekulve FX. Avoidance of Soccer Injuries with Preseason Conditioning. *Am J Sports Med.* 2000;28(5):659-662. doi:10.1177/03635465000280050601.
- 182. Hewett TE, Lindenfeld TN, Riccobene JV, Noyes FR. The Effect of Neuromuscular Training on the Incidence of Knee Injury in Female Athletes. *Am J Sports Med.* 1999;27(6):699-706. doi:10.1177/03635465990270060301.
- 183. Hoffman M, Payne VG. The Effects of Proprioceptive Ankle Disk Training on Healthy Subjects. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 1995;21(2):90-93. doi:10.2519/jospt.1995.21.2.90.
- 184. Holm I, Fosdahl MA, Friis A, Risberg MA, Myklebust G, Steen H. Effect of Neuromuscular Training on Proprioception, Balance, Muscle Strength, and Lower Limb Function in Female Team Handball Players. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2004;14(2):88-94.
- 185. Irmischer BS, Harris C, Pfeiffer RP, DeBeliso MA, Adams KJ, Shea KG. Effects of a Knee Ligament Injury Prevention Exercise Program on Impact Forces in Women. J Strength Cond Res. 2004;18(4):703-707.
- 186. Irrgang JJ, Whitney SL, Cox ED. Balance and Proprioceptive Training for Rehabilitation of the Lower Extremity. J Sport Rehabil. 1994;3(1):68-83. doi:10.1123/jsr.3.1.68.



- 187. Kovacs EJ, Birmingham TB, Forwell L, Litchfield RB. Effect of Training on Postural Control in Figure Skaters: A Randomized Controlled Trial of Neuromuscular versus Basic Off-ice Training Programs. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2004;14(4):215-224.
- 188. Lepers R, Bigard AX, Diard J-P, Gouteyron J-F, Guezennec CY. Posture control after prolonged exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 1997;76(1):55-61. doi:10.1007/s004210050212.
- 189. Myer GD, Ford KR, Brent JL, Hewett TE. The Effects of Plyometrics vs Dynamic Stabilization and Balance Training on Power, Balance, and Landing Force in Female Athletes. J Strength Cond Res. 2006;20(2):345-353.
- 190. Myer GD, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Rationale and Clinical Techniques for Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury Prevention Among Female Athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2004;39(4):352-364.
- 191. Myer GD, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Methodological approaches and rationale for training to prevent anterior cruciate ligament injuries in female athletes. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2004;14(5):275-285. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2004.00410.x.
- 192. Myklebust G, Engebretsen L, Braekken IH, Skjølberg A, Olsen O-E, Bahr R. Prevention of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries in Female Team Handball Players: A Prospective Intervention Study Over Three Seasons. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2003;13(2):71-78.
- 193. Newton RU, Kraemer WJ, Hakkinen K. Effects of Ballistic Training on Preseason Preparation of Elite Volleyball Players. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 1999;31(2):323-330.
- 194. Paterno MV, Myer GD, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Neuromuscular Training Improves Single-Limb Stability in Young Female Athletes. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2004;34(6):305-316. doi:10.2519/jospt.2004.34.6.305.
- 195. Pettitt RW, Bryson ER. Training for Women's Basketball: A Biomechanical Emphasis for Preventing Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury. *Strength Cond J.* 2002;24(5):20-29.



- 196. Shelbourne KD, Davis TJ. Evaluation of Knee Stability Before and After Participation in a Functional Sports Agility Program During Rehabilitation After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Am J Sports Med.* 1999;27(2):156-161. doi:10.1177/03635465990270020701.
- 197. Söderman K, Werner S, Pietilä T, Engström B, Alfredson H. Balance board training: prevention of traumatic injuries of the lower extremities in female soccer players?: A prospective randomized intervention study. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2000;8(6):356-363. doi:10.1007/s001670000147.
- 198. Vengust R, Strojnik V, Pavlovcic V, Antolic V, Zupanc O. The effect of proprioceptive training in patients with recurrent dislocation of the patella. *Cell Mol Biol Lett*. 2002;7(2):379-380.
- 199. Wedderkopp N, Kaltoft M, Holm R, Froberg K. Comparison of two intervention programmes in young female players in European handball - with and without ankle disc. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2003;13(6):371-375. doi:10.1046/j.1600-0838.2003.00336.x.
- 200. Wedderkopp N, Kaltoft M, Lundgaard B, Rosendahl M, Froberg K. Prevention of injuries in young female players in European team handball. A prospective intervention study. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2007;9(1):41-47. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.1999.tb00205.x.
- 201. Knapik JJ, Bullock SH, Canada S, Toney E, Wells JD, Hoedebecke E, Hauret KG, Rieger W, Palkoska F, van Camp S, McMillian D, Edwards D, Billet M. *The Aberdeen Proving Ground Injury Control Project: Influence of a Multiple Intervention Program on Injuries and Fitness among Ordnance Students in Advanced Individual Training*. Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD: U.S. Army Center for Health Promotion and Preventive Medicine; 2003.



- 202. Hawley JA, Tipton KD, Millard-Stafford ML. Promoting training adaptations through nutritional interventions. *J Sports Sci.* 2006;24(7):709-721. doi:10.1080/02640410500482727.
- 203. Kerksick C, Harvey T, Stout J, Campbell B, Wilborn C, Kreider R, Kalman D, Ziegenfuss T, Lopez H, Landis J, Ivy JL, Antonio J. International Society of Sports Nutrition position stand: Nutrient timing. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr*. 2008;5(1):17. doi:10.1186/1550-2783-5-17.
- 204. Saunders MJ, Kane MD, Todd MK. Effects of a Carbohydrate-Protein Beverage on Cycling Endurance and Muscle Damage: *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2004;36(7):1233-1238. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000132377.66177.9F.
- 205. Zawadzki KM, Yaspelkis BB, Ivy JL. Carbohydrate-protein complex increases the rate of muscle glycogen storage after exercise. *J Appl Physiol*. 1992;72(5):1854-1859. doi:10.1152/jappl.1992.72.5.1854.
- 206. Flakoll PJ, Judy T, Flinn K, Carr C, Flinn S. Postexercise protein supplementation improves health and muscle soreness during basic military training in marine recruits. *J Appl Physiol*. 2004;96(3):951-956. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00811.2003.
- 207. Ivy JL, Goforth HW, Damon BM, McCauley TR, Parsons EC, Price TB. Early postexercise muscle glycogen recovery is enhanced with a carbohydrate-protein supplement. *J Appl Physiol*. 2002;93(4):1337-1344. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00394.2002.
- 208. Ivy JL, Res PT, Sprague RC, Widzer MO. Effect of a Carbohydrate-Protein Supplement on Endurance Performance during Exercise of Varying Intensity. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab.* 2003;13(3):382-395. doi:10.1123/ijsnem.13.3.382.


- 209. Rowlands DS, Thorp RM, Rossler K, Graham DF, Rockell MJ. Effect of Protein-Rich Feeding on Recovery after Intense Exercise. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab.* 2007;17(6):521-543. doi:10.1123/ijsnem.17.6.521.
- 210. Tarnopolsky MA, Bosman M, Macdonald JR, Vandeputte D, Martin J, Roy BD.
 Postexercise protein-carbohydrate and carbohydrate supplements increase muscle glycogen in men and women. *J Appl Physiol*. 1997;83(6):1877-1883. doi:10.1152/jappl.1997.83.6.1877.
- 211. Rasmussen BB, Tipton KD, Miller SL, Wolf SE, Wolfe RR. An oral essential amino acidcarbohydrate supplement enhances muscle protein anabolism after resistance exercise. J Appl Physiol. 2000;88(2):386-392. doi:10.1152/jappl.2000.88.2.386.
- 212. Mori H. Effect of timing of protein and carbohydrate intake after resistance exercise on nitrogen balance in trained and untrained young men. *J Physiol Anthropol.* 2014;33:24. doi:10.1186/1880-6805-33-24.
- 213. Campbell B, Kreider RB, Ziegenfuss T, La Bounty P, Roberts M, Burke D, Landis J, Lopez H, Antonio J. International Society of Sports Nutrition position stand: protein and exercise.
 J Int Soc Sports Nutr. 2007;4:8. doi:10.1186/1550-2783-4-8.
- 214. Kumamoto DP, Maeda Y. A literature review of sports-related orofacial trauma. *Gen Dent*.2004;52(3):270-280; quiz 281.
- 215. Blignaut JB, Carstens IL, Lombard CJ. Injuries sustained in rugby by wearers and nonwearers of mouthguards. *Br J Sports Med.* 1987;21(2):5-7. doi:10.1136/bjsm.21.2.5.
- 216. Caglar E, Kargul B, Tanboga I. Dental trauma and mouthguard usage among ice hockey players in Turkey premier league. *Dent Traumatol*. 2005;21(1):29-31. doi:10.1111/j.1600-9657.2004.00271.x.



- 217. Cohen A, Borish AL. A Four Year Comparative Study of Various Mouth Protectors. *Bull Natl Assoc Second Sch Princ*. 1961;45(268):145-148. doi:10.1177/019263656104526828.
- 218. Labella CR, Smith BW, Sigurdsson A. Effect of mouthguards on dental injuries and concussions in college basketball. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2002;34(1):41-44.
- 219. Maestrello-deMoya MG, Primosch RE. Orofacial trauma and mouth-protector wear among high school varsity basketball players. *ASDC J Dent Child*. 1989;56(1):36-39.
- 220. Marshall SW. Evaluation of protective equipment for prevention of injuries in rugby union.*Int J Epidemiol*. 2004;34(1):113-118. doi:10.1093/ije/dyh346.
- 221. McNutt T, Shannon, Jr SW, Wright JT, Feinsteins RA. Oral Trauma in Adolescent Athletes: a Study of Mouth Protectors. *Pediatr Dent*. 1989;11(3):209-213.
- 222. Moon DG, Mitchell DF. An evaluation of a commercial protective mouthpiece for football players. *J Am Dent Assoc*. 1961;62(5):568-572. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.1961.0104.
- 223. Morton JG, Burton JF. An Evaluation of the Effectiveness of Mouthguards in High School Rugby Players. N Z Dent J. 1979;75(341):151-153.
- 224. dela Cruz GG, Knapik JJ, Birk MG. Evaluation of mouthguards for the prevention of orofacial injuries during United States Army basic military training. *Dent Traumatol*. 2008;24(1):86-90. doi:10.1111/j.1600-9657.2006.00500.x.
- 225. Knapik JJ, Marshall SW, Lee RB, Darakjy SS, Jones SB, Mitchener TA, dela Cruz GG, Jones BH. Mouthguards in Sport Activities: History, Physical Properties and Injury Prevention Effectiveness. *Sports Med.* 2007;37(2):117-144.
- 226. Amoroso PJ, Ryan JB, Bickley B, Leitschuh P, Taylor DC, Jones BH. Braced for Impact: Reducing Military Paratroopers' Ankle Sprains Using Outside-the-Boot Braces. *J Trauma Inj Infect Crit Care*. 1998;45(3):575-580.



- 227. Baumhauer JF, Alosa DM, Renström PAFH, Trevino S, Beynnon B. A Prospective Study of Ankle Injury Risk Factors. *Am J Sports Med.* 1995;23(5):564-570. doi:10.1177/036354659502300508.
- 228. Beynnon BD, Renström PA, Alosa DM, Baumhauer JF, Vacek PM. Ankle Ligament Injury Risk Factors: A Prospective Study of College Athletes. *J Orthop Res*. 2001;19:213-220.
- 229. Giza E, Fuller C, Junge A, Dvorak J. Mechanisms of Foot and Ankle Injuries in Soccer. *Am J Sports Med.* 2003;31(4):550-554. doi:10.1177/03635465030310041201.
- 230. Leanderson J, Nemeth G, Eriksson E. Ankle injuries in basketball players. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 1993;1(3-4):200-202. doi:10.1007/BF01560206.
- 231. Milgrom C, Shlamkovitch N, Finestone A, Eldad A, Laor A, Danon YL, Lavie O, Wosk J, Simkin A. Risk Factors for Lateral Ankle Sprain: A Prospective Study Among Military Recruits. *Foot Ankle*. 1991;12(1):26-30. doi:10.1177/107110079101200105.
- 232. Willems TM, Witvrouw E, Delbaere K, Mahieu N, De Bourdeaudhuij L, De Clercq D. Intrinsic Risk Factors for Inversion Ankle Sprains in Male Subjects: A Prospective Study. *Am J Sports Med.* 2005;33(3):415-423. doi:10.1177/0363546504268137.
- 233. Surve I, Schwellnus MP, Noakes T, Lombard C. A Fivefold Reduction in the Incidence of Recurrent Ankle Sprains in Soccer Players Using the Sport-Stirrup Orthosis. *Am J Sports Med.* 1994;22(5):601-606. doi:10.1177/036354659402200506.
- 234. Garrick JG, Requa RK. Role of External Support in the Prevention of Ankle Sprains. *Med Sci Sports*. 1973;5(3):200-203.
- 235. Schmidt MD. Effectiveness of an outside-the-boot ankle brace in reducing parachuting related ankle injuries. *Inj Prev.* 2005;11(3):163-168. doi:10.1136/ip.2004.006304.



- 236. Schumacher JT, Creedon JF, Pope RW. The Effectiveness of the Parachutist Ankle Brace in Reducing Ankle Injuries in an Airborne Ranger Battalion. *Mil Med.* 2000;165(12):944-948. doi:10.1093/milmed/165.12.944.
- 237. Sharpe SR, Knapik J, Jones B. Ankle Braces Effectively Reduce Recurrence of Ankle Sprains in Female Soccer Players. *J Athl Train*. 1997;32(1):21-24.
- 238. Sitler M, Ryan J, Wheeler B, McBride J, Arciero R, Anderson J, Horodyski M. The Efficacy of a Semirigid Ankle Stabilizer to Reduce Acute Ankle Injuries in Basketball: A Randomized Clinical Study at West Point. *Am J Sports Med.* 1994;22(4):454-461. doi:10.1177/036354659402200404.
- 239. Janssen KW, van Mechelen W, Verhagen EALM. Bracing superior to neuromuscular training for the prevention of self-reported recurrent ankle sprains: a three-arm randomised controlled trial. *Br J Sports Med.* 2014;48(16):1235-1239. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092947.
- 240. Akers WA, Sulzberger MB. The friction blister. Mil Med. 1972;137(1):1-7.
- 241. Bush R, Brodine S, Shaffer R. The association of blisters with musculoskeletal injuries in male marine recruits. *J Am Podiatr Med Assoc*. 2000;90(4):194-198. doi:10.7547/87507315-90-4-194.
- 242. Hoeffler DF. Friction blisters and cellulitis in a navy recruit population. *Mil Med*. 1975;140(5):333-337.
- 243. Knapik JJ, Reynolds K, Barson J. Risk factors for foot blisters during road marching: tobacco use, ethnicity, foot type, previous illness, and other factors. *Mil Med*. 1999;164(2):92-97.



- 244. Patterson HS, Woolley TW, Lednar WM. Foot Blister Risk Factors in an ROTC Summer Camp Population. *Mil Med.* 1994;159(2):130-135. doi:10.1093/milmed/159.2.130.
- 245. Reynolds K, Williams J, Miller C, Mathis A, Dettori J. Injuries and Risk Factors in an 18-Day Marine Winter Mountain Training Exercise. *Mil Med.* 2000;165(12):905-910. doi:10.1093/milmed/165.12.905.
- 246. Herring K, Richie D. Friction blisters and sock fiber composition. A double-blind study. *J Am Podiatr Med Assoc.* 1990;80(2):63-71. doi:10.7547/87507315-80-2-63.
- 247. Herring K, Richie D. Comparison of cotton and acrylic socks using a generic cushion sole design for runners. *J Am Podiatr Med Assoc*. 1993;83(9):515-522. doi:10.7547/87507315-83-9-515.
- 248. Jagoda A, Madden H, Hinson C. A Friction Blister Prevention Study in a Population of Marines. J Occup Med. 1982;24(1):59.
- 249. Knapik JJ, Hamlet MP, Thompson KJ, Jones BH. Influence of Boot-Sock Systems on Frequency and Severity of Foot Blisters. *Mil Med.* 1996;161(10):594-598. doi:10.1093/milmed/161.10.594.
- 250. Anderson B, Burke ER. Scientific, medical, and practical aspects of stretching. *Clin Sports Med.* 1991;10(1):63-86.
- 251. Beaulieu J. Stretching for All Sports. Athletic Press. 1980.
- 252. Corbin CB. Flexibility. Clin Sports Med. 1984;3(1):101-117.
- 253. Holt J, Holt L, Pelhan T. Flexibility Redefined. July 1996.
- 254. Knudson DV, Magnusson P, McHugh M. *Current Issues in Flexibility Fitness*. President's Council on Physical Fitness and Sports; 2000.



- 255. Herbert RD. Effects of stretching before and after exercising on muscle soreness and risk of injury: systematic review. *BMJ*. 2002;325(7362):468-468. doi:10.1136/bmj.325.7362.468.
- 256. Weldon S., Hill R. The efficacy of stretching for prevention of exercise-related injury: a systematic review of the literature. *Man Ther*. 2003;8(3):141-150. doi:10.1016/S1356-689X(03)00010-9.
- 257. Shrier I. Stretching before exercise does not reduce the risk of local muscle injury: a critical review of the clinical and basic science literature. *Clin J Sport Med Off J Can Acad Sport Med*. 1999;9(4):221-227.
- 258. Knapik JJ, Jones BH, Bauman CL, Harris JM. Strength, Flexibility and Athletic Injuries1: *Sports Med.* 1992;14(5):277-288. doi:10.2165/00007256-199214050-00001.
- 259. Workplace Use of Back Belts: Review and Recommendations. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.; 1994.
- 260. Use of Back Support Belts. Office of the Surgeon General: U.S. Army; 1994.
- 261. van Poppel MN, Koes BW, Smid T, Bouter LM. A systematic review of controlled clinical trials on the prevention of back pain in industry. *Occup Environ Med.* 1997;54(12):841-847. doi:10.1136/oem.54.12.841.
- 262. Jellema P, van Tulder MW, van Poppel MNM, Nachemson AL, Bouter LM. Lumbar Supports for Prevention and Treatment of Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review within the Framework of the Cochrane Back Review Group. *Spine*. 2001;26(4):377-386.
- 263. Linton SJ, van Tulder MW. Preventive Interventions for Back and Neck Pain Problems:What is the Evidence? *Spine*. 2001;26(7):778-787.
- 264. 6055.1 DOD Safety and Occupational Health Program.; 1998.



- 265. Tamblyn R. Unnecessary Prescribing of NSAIDs and the Management of NSAID-Related Gastropathy in Medical Practice. *Ann Intern Med.* 1997;127(6):429. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-127-6-199709150-00003.
- 266. O'Grady M, Hackney AC, Schneider K, Bossen E, Steinberg K, Douglas JM, Murray WJ, Watkins WD. Diclofenac sodium (Voltaren) reduced exercise-induced injury in human skeletal muscle. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2000;32(7):1191-1196.
- 267. Pizza FX, Cavender D, Stockard A, Baylies H, Beighle A. Anti-inflammatory doses of ibuprofen: effect on neutrophils and exercise-induced muscle injury. *Int J Sports Med.* 1999;20(2):98-102. doi:10.1055/s-2007-971100.
- 268. Bourgeois J, MacDougall D, MacDonald J, Tarnopolsky M. Naproxen does not alter indices of muscle damage in resistance-exercise trained men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1999;31(1):4-9.
- 269. Loram LC, Mitchell D, Fuller A. Rofecoxib and tramadol do not attenuate delayed-onset muscle soreness or ischaemic pain in human volunteers. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*. 2005;83(12):1137-1145. doi:10.1139/y05-113.
- 270. Tokmakidis SP, Kokkinidis EA, Smilios I, Douda H. The effects of ibuprofen on delayed muscle soreness and muscular performance after eccentric exercise. *J Strength Cond Res*. 2003;17(1):53-59.
- 271. Baker J, Cotter JD, Gerrard DF, Bell ML, Walker RJ. Effects of Indomethacin and Celecoxib on Renal Function in Athletes: *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2005;37(5):712-717. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000162700.66214.CE.

66



- 272. Olsen NV, Jensen NG, Hansen JM, Christensen NJ, Fogh-Andersen N, Kanstrup I-L. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and renal response to exercise: a comparison of indomethacin and nabumetone. *Clin Sci.* 1999;97(4):457-465. doi:10.1042/cs0970457.
- 273. Walker RJ, Fawcett JP, Flannery EM, Gerrard DF. Indomethacin potentiates exerciseinduced reduction in renal hemodynamics in athletes. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1994;26(11):1302-1306.
- 274. Hungin AP., Kean W. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: overused or underused in osteoarthritis? *Am J Med*. 2001;110(1):S8-S11. doi:10.1016/S0002-9343(00)00628-8.
- 275. Bullock SH, Jones BH. *Recommendations for Prevention of Physical Training-Related Injuries: Result of a Systematic Evidence-Based Review by the Joint Services Physical Training Injury Prevention Work Group*. Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD: U.S. Army Center for Health Promotion and Preventive Medicine; 2008.
- 276. History. US Army Cadet Command. http://www.rotc.usaac.army.mil/history.aspx.
- 277. Sell TC, Abt JP, Crawford K, Lovalekar M, Nagai T, Deluzio JB, Smalley BW, McGrail MA, Rowe RS, Cardin S, Lephart SM. Warrior Model for Human Performance and Injury Prevention: Eagle Tactical Athlete Program (ETAP) Part I. *J Spec Oper Med*. 2010;10(4):2-21.
- 278. Nindl BC, Barnes BR, Alemany JA, Frykman PN, Shippee RL, Friedl KE. Physiological Consequences of U.S. Army Ranger Training: *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2007;39(8):1380-1387. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e318067e2f7.
- 279. Sefton JM, Lohse KR, McAdam JS. Prediction of Injuries and Injury Types in Army Basic Training, Infantry, Armor, and Cavalry Trainees Using a Common Fitness Screen. J Athl Train. 2016;51(11):849-857. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-51.9.09.



- 280. Carow SD, Haniuk EM, Cameron KL, Padua DA, Marshall SW, DiStefano LJ, de la Motte SJ, Beutler AI, Gerber JP. Risk of Lower Extremity Injury in a Military Cadet Population After a Supervised Injury-Prevention Program. *J Athl Train*. 2016;51(11):905-918. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.5.22.
- 281. Gilson TA, Latimer M, Lochbaum M. Post-LDAC Reflections of ROTC Cadets: Relationship to Leadership and Performance. J Appl Sport Psychol. 2015;27(2):235-248. doi:10.1080/10413200.2014.982306.
- 282. Army Regulation 145-1: Reserve Officers' Training Corps Senior Reserve Officers' Training Corps Program: Organization, Administration and Training. Washington, D.C.: Department of the Army; 2011.
- 283. Hauschild V, Schuh A. Injury Prevention Survey: Army Awareness Assessment and Needs Analysis. US Army Public Health Command Public Health Rep. 2015;PHR No. S.0023151.
- 284. Henderson NE, Knapik JJ, Shaffer SW, McKenzie TH, Schneider GM. Injuries and Injury Risk Factors among Men and Women in U.S. Army Combat Medic Advanced Individual Training. *Mil Med.* 2000;165(9):647-652. doi:10.1093/milmed/165.9.647.
- 285. Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee I-M, Nieman DC, Swain DP, American College of Sports Medicine. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2011;43(7):1334-1359. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb.
- 286. Progression Models in Resistance Training for Healthy Adults: *Med Sci Sports Exerc*.2009;41(3):687-708. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181915670.



- 287. Alvar BA, Sell K, Deuster PA, National Strength & Conditioning Association (U.S.), eds. *NSCA's Essentials of Tactical Strength and Conditioning*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics;
 2017.
- 288. Abt JP, Sell TC, Crawford K, Lovalekar M, Nagai T, Deluzio JB, Smalley BW, McGrail MA, Rowe RS, Cardin S, Lephart SM. Warrior Model for Human Performance and Injury Prevention: Eagle Tactical Athlete Program (ETAP) Part II. *J Spec Oper Med*. 2010;10(4):22-33.
- 289. Sell TC, Abt JP, Nagai T, Deluzio JB, Lovalekar M, Wirt MD, Lephart SM. The Eagle Tactical Athlete Program Reduces Musculoskeletal Injuries in the 101st Airborne Division (Air Assault). *Mil Med*. 2016;181(3):250-257. doi:10.7205/MILMED-D-14-00674.
- 290. Hauschild V, Hauret K, Richardson M, Jones BH, Lee T. A Taxonomy of Injuries for Public Health Monitoring and Reporting. *Army Public Health Cent Public Health Inf Pap*.
 2017;(PHIP No. 12-01-0717).
- 291. Jørgensen U, Fredensborg T, Haraszuk JP, Crone K-L. Reduction of injuries in downhill skiing by use of an instructional ski-video: a prospective randomised intervention study. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 1998;6(3):194-200. doi:10.1007/s001670050098.
- 292. Gagnier JJ, Morgenstern H, Chess L. Interventions Designed to Prevent Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries in Adolescents and Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Am J Sports Med. 2013;41(8):1952-1962. doi:10.1177/0363546512458227.
- 293. Markovits AS. Photo-refractive keratectomy (PRK): threat or millennium for military pilots? *Aviat Space Environ Med.* 1993;64(5):409-411.



- 294. Lollis BD, Marsh RW, Sowin TW, Thompson WT. Major depressive disorder in military aviators: a retrospective study of prevalence. *Aviat Space Environ Med.* 2009;80(8):734-737.
- 295. Almeida SA, Trone DW, Leone DM, Shaffer RA, Patheal SL, Long K. Gender differences in musculoskeletal injury rates: a function of symptom reporting? *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 1999;31(12):1807-1812.



TABLES

Anthropometry and APFT Scores	Fall 2017		Fall 2018		
	Female	Male	Female	Male	
Height (in.)	65 ± 3	70 ± 2	64.5 ± 3	70 ± 3	
Weight (lbs.)	137 ± 19.5	173 ± 20.5	135 ± 17	175 ± 23.5	
Age (yr.)	19 ± 1	20 ± 2	20 ± 1	20 ± 2	
APFT					
Push Ups	41 ± 9	72 ± 13	45 ± 10	70 ± 15	
Sit Ups	66 ± 13	73 ± 10	74 ± 16	71 ± 15	
2-mile Run	$17:56 \pm 1:24$	14:13 ± 1:18	$16:45 \pm 1:01$	14:23 ± 2:39	
(min:sec)					
Score	242 ± 36	264 ± 32	269 ± 34	258 ± 51	

Table 1. Cadet Demographic Information



Table 2. Distribution by Percentage of Cadets' Beliefs on Musculoskeletal Injury Risksand Interventions Prior to Injury Prevention Course

Factors that:		Response Perce	entage	
Increase Risk of Injury*	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk*	Not Sure
		Decrease		
Increased Running Mileage	15%	25%	48%	12%
Dehydration	4%	0%	94%	2%
Prior Injury	4%	0%	94%	2%
Cigarette Smoking	0%	2%	96%	2%
High Flexibility	78%	8%	10%	4%
Very Thin Body Type	4%	22%	67%	8%
Low Physical Fitness Level	6%	6%	86%	2%
Low Caloric Intake	10%	6%	80%	4%
Does Not Decrease or May	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk*	Not Sure
Increase Risk*		Decrease*		
Back Brace/Lifting Belt	65%	6%	16%	12%
NSAIDs Before Exercise	29%	24%	33%	14%
NSAIDS After Exercise	45%	22%	18%	8%
Stretching Before Exercise	90%	2%	8%	0%
Reduce Risk of Injury*	Decrease Risk*	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk	Not Sure
		Decrease		
Ankle Brace	59%	6%	20%	16%
Synthetic Socks	55%	22%	16%	8%
Agility / Balance Training	42%	12%	40%	6%
Mouth Guards	69%	18%	4%	10%
Helmets	84%	2%	4%	10%



Does Not Decrease nor	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk	Not Sure		
Increase Risk		Decrease*				
Minimalist Running Shoes	19%	8%	65%	8%		
Stretching After Exercise	94%	2%	4%	0%		
Effect on Risk not Evident / Is	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk	Not Sure*		
Variable*		Decrease				
Fatigue	4%	2%	88%	6%		
Lack of Sleep	4%	0%	92%	4%		
High Body Mass Index	10%	6%	75%	8%		
Proper Exercise Technique	90%	0%	4%	6%		
Older Age (>40 years)	0%	6%	80%	14%		
Male Sex	27%	37%	18%	18%		
Dietary Supplements	27%	20%	37%	16%		
Older Running Shoes	12%	8%	79%	2%		
*Current assessment of scientific evidence in military populations based on recommendations from the Work						
Group						



Table 3. Distribution by Percentage of Cadets' Beliefs on Musculoskeletal Injury Risks and Interventions After Injury Prevention Course

Factors that:		Response Perce	entage	
Increase Risk of Injury*	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk*	Not Sure
		Decrease		
Increased Running Mileage	2%	2%	96%	0%
Dehydration	0%	2%	98%	0%
Prior Injury	0%	2%	98%	0%
Cigarette Smoking	0%	2%	98%	0%
High Flexibility	15%	13%	73%	0%
Low Physical Fitness Level	7%	2%	91%	0%
Very Thin Body Type	0%	5%	95%	0%
Does Not Decrease or May	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk*	Not Sure
Increase Risk*		Decrease*		
Back Brace/Lifting Belt	13%	15%	70%	9%
NSAIDs Before Exercise	8%	14%	76%	2%
NSAIDS After Exercise	15%	31%	52%	2%
Stretching Before Exercise	10%	44%	46%	0%
Low Caloric Intake	2%	0%	98%	0%
Reduce Risk of Injury*	Decrease Risk*	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk	Not Sure
		Decrease		
Ankle Brace	80%	7%	13%	0%
Synthetic Socks	89%	2%	9%	0%
Agility Training	62%	10%	26%	2%
Mouth Guards	89%	2%	7%	2%
Helmets	91%	0%	4%	0%



Does Not Decrease nor	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk	Not Sure
Increase Risk		Decrease*		
Minimalist Running Shoes	16%	16%	64%	4%
Stretching After Exercise	46%	38%	17%	0%
Effect on Risk not Evident / Is	Decrease Risk	Neither Increase nor	Increase Risk	Not Sure*
Variable*		Decrease		
Fatigue	7%	2%	91%	0%
Lack of Sleep	2%	2%	95%	0%
High Body Mass Index	2%	7%	89%	2%
Proper Exercise Technique	84%	2%	10%	2%
Older Age (>40 years)	9%	13%	78%	0%
Male Sex	33%	38%	27%	2%
Dietary Supplements	17%	10%	71%	2%
Older Running Shoes	2%	6%	90%	2%
*Current assessment of scienti	fic evidence based	on recommendations from	the Work Group	1

Area where further education may be warranted based on $\geq 10\%$ answers not aligning with course content or

scientific literature

Key concern based on \geq 30% answers not aligning with course content or scientific literature



Fall 2017		Fall 2018	
by Body Region		by Body Region	
Foot	1	Ankle	2
Ankle	1	Lower Leg	6
Lower Leg	4	Thigh	2
Knee	4	Lumbar Spine	2
Thigh	2	Cervical Spine	1
Hip	2	Shoulder	1
Lumbar Spine	2	Elbow	1
by Sex		by Sex	
Male	7	Male	11
Female	9	Female	4
he Mashanian		he Masharian	
by Mechanism		by Mechanism	
Acute	5	Acute	11
Cumulative	11	Cumulative	4
Total	16	Total	15

Table 4. Breakdown of Cadet Injuries by Semester, Body Region, Sex, and Mechanism



FIGURES



Figure 1. Percentage of Correct Responses on Pre- and Post-Course Quizzes

Figure 2. Cadet Self-rated Aerobic Endurance









Figure 4. Injury Mechanisms Reported on Pre-class Survey







Figure 5. Cadet Beliefs on Major Injury Mechanisms in the U.S. Army



Army's readiness to fight."





Figure 7. Cadet Responses to the Statement: "Muscle/joint/tendon/ligament/bone injuries resulting from overuse are a bigger problem to the Army than those injuries from single incidents/accidents."









www.manaraa.com



Figure 9. Areas of Cadet Interest for Further Injury Prevention Information

Figure 10. Injuries for which Cadets Desired to Learn More





APPENDIX A: INJURY PREVENTION SURVEY

The following questions were reproduced from *Injury Prevention Survey: Army Awareness Assessment and Needs Analysis* with permission from Veronique Hauschild, MPH of the U.S. Army Public Health Center. Questions were modified to reflect the ROTC cadet population rather than soldiers currently in the Army. Some questions were omitted due to relevance. The full survey in its original form may be found in APHC Public Health Report No. S.0023151.

Pre-course Survey

The following survey was completed by participants prior to the injury prevention education course.

How would you rate the following elements of your physical fitness compared to others of your same age and gender?

	Below			Above		
	Poor	Average	Average	Average	Excellent	
Stamina/Aerobic Endurance	0	0	0	0	0	
Muscle Strength	0	0	0	0	0	

In the last 12 months, did you sustain an injury involving your muscles, bones, tendons, ligaments, or joints that affected your physical ability to do daily tasks or exercise?

- Yes
- o No
- > The most severe injury you had in the last 12 months was primarily the result of:



- A single incident/accident such as from lifting an object, falling or tripping, an automobile accident
- Overuse resulting from repetitive movement of body parts (e.g., strained muscles, ligaments, tendons, joints, or stress fractures)
- Not sure
- > The most severe injury you had in the last 12 months was primarily due to:
 - School or work-related activity slipping/tripping/falling
 - School or work-related activity lifting/pulling/pushing
 - *Military-related road marching*
 - *Military-related combat training drills*
 - *Military-related obstacle course*
 - *Exercising running*
 - *Exercising Activity other than running (please specify)*
 - Sports (please specify)
 - *Motor vehicle*
 - *Household activity*
 - Other (please specify)
 - Not sure

Injuries represent the biggest threat to the Army's readiness to fight.

Strongly	Strongly Neither Agree			
Disagree	Disagree	nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
0	0	0	0	0



Muscle/joint/tendon/ligament/bone injuries resulting from overuse are a bigger problem to the Army than those injuries from single incidents/accidents.

Strongly		Neither Agree		
Disagree	Disagree	nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
0	0	0	0	0

Preventable non-combat injuries were the leading reason for air medical evacuation during

deployments to Iraq and Afghanistan.

Strongly		Neither Agree		
Disagree	Disagree	nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
0	0	0	0	0

The 3 most common muscle/joint/tendon/ligament/bone injuries experienced by military

personnel are to the back, knees, and ankles.

Strongly	agly Neither Agree			
Disagree	Disagree	nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
0	0	0	0	0

What do you think are the 3 leading causes of physical injuries in Active Duty Army personnel?

(Select 3)

 \Box Cold

□ Falling/tripping

□ Heat



- □ *Motor vehicles*
- □ *Parachuting*
- D Physical training (e.g., running, resistance training, agility training, etc.)
- \Box Road marching
- □ Sports (e.g., basketball, football, soccer, racquetball, etc.)
- □ Other (please specify)



Check how you think each of the following impact a person's risk of injury to

muscles/tendons/ligaments/joints/bones:

Factor/Activity	DECREASES	INCREASES	NEITHER	NOT SURE
	Risk of Injury	Risk of Injury	Decreases nor	
			Increases Risk	
			of Injury	
Increased running mileage	0	0	0	0
Minimalist running shoes	0	0	0	0
Older running shoes	0	0	0	0
Stretching before exercise	0	0	0	0
Stretching after exercise	0	0	0	0
High flexibility	0	0	0	0
Agility training (quick changes	0	0	0	0
of direction)	Ŭ	Ŭ		0
Over-the-counter anti-				
inflammatory or pain				
medications BEFORE	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο
workouts (such as ibuprofen,				
naproxen, or acetaminophen)				
Over-the-counter anti-				
inflammatory or pain	Ο	О	О	Ο
medications AFTER workouts				



Back-brace/lift belt (for job or	О	О	О	0
weight training)				
Ankle brace	0	0	0	0
Mouth guards	0	0	0	0
Helmets (motorcycles,	0	0	0	0
bicycles)				
Proper technique (running,				
weight lifting, stretching,	Ο	Ο	Ο	Ο
calisthenics)				
Moisture wicking	0	0	0	0
(synthetic/non-cotton) socks			C C	U U
Cigarette smoking	0	0	0	0
Older age (>40)	0	0	0	0
Male sex	0	0	0	0
Low physical fitness level	0	0	0	0
High Body Mass Index	0	0	0	0
Very thin body type	0	0	0	0
Dehydration	0	0	0	0
Prior Injury	0	0	0	0



Factor/Activity	DECREASES	INCREASES	NEITHER	NOT
	Risk of Injury Risk of Injury		Decreases	SURE
			nor Increases	
			Risk of Injury	
Fatigue	0	0	0	О
Lack of sleep	0	0	0	0
Energy or dietary supplements	0	0	0	0
Low calorie intake	0	0	0	0

To what extent do you agree or disagree with each of the following statements about those

individuals in your chain of command, starting with your squad leader?

	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree	N/A, unable to assess my leadership in this area
My leadership believes injuries can be prevented and makes it a priority	0	0	0	0	0	Ο
I am kept informed about the key types and risks of injuries in our ROTC program	Ο	Ο	0	0	Ο	Ο



I am provided information to help reduce injuries (my own and/or others)	Ο	0	0	0	Ο	Ο
My leadership models injury prevention efforts	0	0	0	0	0	0

Post-course Survey

Participants completed a second survey after completion of the course. The second

survey included all questions from the first survey except the first two series of questions and the

last series. The second survey also included the following items.

Check the activities about which would be interested in obtaining more injury prevention

information:

- \Box Running
- □ Agility, calisthenics, stretching
- □ *Extreme conditioning (e.g., CrossFit)*
- □ Weight training
- □ *Road marching injury prevention*
- □ *Other (please specify)*

What injuries are you most interested in learning about?

- □ Abrasion or lacerations
- □ Blisters
- Dislocated joints



□ *Fracture (stress fractures and broken bones)*

- □ Sprained or torn muscles
- □ *Tendonitis or bursitis*
- □ Torn ligaments
- □ Other (please specify)

How would you like to obtain injury prevention information?

- \Box Computer
- \Box Mobile device
- □ Printed material
- □ Other (please specify)

What types of injury prevention information or educational materials would you prefer?

- □ Brochures
- \Box Posters
- □ Factsheets
- □ Technical reports or articles
- □ Other (please specify)

If you have any other comments you wish to share, you may write any response in the space

below.



APPENDIX B: COURSE CONTENT QUIZ

Please complete the following questions to the best of your ability.

- 1. Which of the following is most responsible for running-related injuries?
 - A. Frequency C. Duration
 - B. Mileage D. Speed
- 2. Stretching prior to exercise has been shown to decrease injury rates.
 - A. True B. False

3. ______ is the leading cause of hospitalizations in the Army.

- A. Car accidents C. Falls
- B. Physical training D. Combat

4. Synthetic blend socks help prevent blister formation.

- A. True B. False
- 5. When adjusted for time, _____ leads to the most injuries.
 - A. Confidence courses C. Resistance training
 - B. Ruck marching D. Running

6. Which drill focuses on lower extremity strength and plyometrics?

- A. CD2 C. CL2
- B. HSD D. CD3
- 7. The majority of disability discharges are due to physical training.
 - A. True B. False
- 8. ______ is the greatest predictor of injury in the Army.

A. Sex C. Body weight



B. Fitness D. Age

- 9. Which is not recommended for injury prevention?
 - A. Back braces C. Ankle braces
 - B. Appropriate nutrition D. Mouth guards
- 10. Many training injuries are preventable through activity modification.
 - A. True B. False

